
 

 

Please ask for Democratic Services: Telephone 01775 764693  

e-mail: demservices@sholland.gov.uk 

 

AGENDA 
 
 
 

 
 

Committee - PERFORMANCE MONITORING PANEL 
 
Date & Time - Tuesday, 7 December 2021 at 6.30 pm 
 

Venue - Council Chamber, Council Offices, Priory Road, 
Spalding 

 
 

Membership of the Performance Monitoring Panel: 
 
Councillors: B Alcock (Chairman), M D Booth (Vice-Chairman), C J T H Brewis, 
T A Carter, A C Cronin, H Drury, J L King, J D McLean, N H Pepper, P A Redgate, 
G P Scalese, A C Tennant, J Tyrrell, S C Walsh and D J Wilkinson 
 
Substitute members on the Performance Monitoring Panel may be appointed only 
from members who are not on the Cabinet.  Substitutions apply for individual 
meetings only.  
 
Quorum: 5 
 

 

 If you would like to attend this meeting as a 
member of the public, please contact 

Democratic Services via email at 
demservices@sholland.gov.uk  

or via telephone on 01775 764693.  

Persons attending the meeting are 
requested to turn their mobile telephones to 

silent mode 

 
Democratic Services 
Council Offices, Priory Road 
Spalding, Lincs PE11 2XE 
 
Date:   29 November 2021 
 

Public Document Pack

Page 1

mailto:demservices@sholland.gov.uk


A G E N D A 
 
1  Apologies for absence. 

  
 

2  Declaration of Interests. -  
Where a Councillor has a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest the Councillor 
must declare the interest to the meeting and leave the room without 
participating in any discussion or making a statement on the item, 
except where a councillor is permitted to remain as a result of a grant of 
dispensation. 
 

 

3  Call-In (Market Consultation Outcome) -  
To explain the background to the Call-In and the process to be followed 
by the Panel (report of the Deputy Chief Executive (Corporate 
Development) and S151 enclosed. 
 

(Pages 
3 - 66) 

 

Page 2



SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 

 

Report of: Deputy Chief Executive (Corporate Development) & S151 

  

To: Performance Monitoring Panel – 7 December 2021 

 

(Author: Christine Morgan – Democratic Services Team Leader) 

 

Subject Call-In (Market Consultation Outcome) 

 

Purpose: To explain the background to the Call-In and the process to be followed by the 

Panel  

 

 
Recommendation: 
 
That the Panel considers the content of this report and the supporting documentation and 
considers the options available to it, as detailed within section 3 of this report. 
 
 

 

1.0 BACKGROUND 

 

1.1 On 26 October 2021, the Cabinet considered the report of the Portfolio Holder for 

Environmental Services regarding the outcome of the Market Consultation. 

 

1.2 The following decisions were made by the Cabinet: 

 

1) That the adoption of the Markets Regulation Handbook, following consultation from 18th 
June to 30th July 2021, be approved; 

 
2) That the Head of Environmental and Operational Services, in consultation with the 

Portfolio Holder for Environmental Services, be given delegated authority to make 
changes to the Market Regulation Handbook as necessary, following approval of the 
proposed options of this report; 

 
3) That adoption of the new fee structure as consulted upon, and annual review, be 

approved; 
 

4) That Option Two, as set out in paragraph 2.2, be approved to ensure investment and 
growth in our markets and the ability to take action on the results of the consultation 
and implement the key findings, such as pop-up stalls and improved engagement; 

a. That a new post of Markets Manager be introduced for a two-year fixed term trial 
to deliver the objectives of option two funded from the Investment and Growth 
Reserve as detailed in 5.5; 
 

5) That the current suspension of stall erection and dismantling be made a permanent 
change to market provision, as reflected in the new fee structure;  
 

6) That the attached Equality Impact Assessment be noted; and 
 

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



7) That the current road closure in Long Sutton be made permanent to ensure the safe 
running of the market and maintain the high levels of social gatherings in and around 
Market Place each Friday. 

 

1.3 A copy of the report and the appendices considered by the Cabinet are attached 

 

2.0 CALL-IN 

 

2.1 In accordance with the Constitution, when a proposed decision has been made by the 

Cabinet, all councillors receive a copy of the decision notice.   The decision notice states 

that the proposed decisions contained in it will come into force on the expiry of 5 working 

days from the date of its publication, unless the proposed decision is called in. 

 

If a councillor wishes to call in a proposed decision, notice must be given by way of a call-in 

form, to the Assistant Director – Governance, and Monitoring Officer, by the expiry date 

shown on the decision notice. 

  The decision can be called-in in the following way: 

 

• By a Ward Representative (in relation to a matter in their ward); or 

• Two members of the Performance Monitoring Panel; or 

• Any three members 
 
 The notice must be signed by at least one councillor (as above), and must also specify: 
 

• The reason(s) for the call in, and  
 

Either: 

• What action the councillor(s) who made the call-in consider the decision maker should 
take to address those concerns  

 
Or  

• What alternative decision the councillor(s) would like to see taken. 
 
2.2 The decision was called in by Councillors C J T H Brewis and J Tyrrell, who stated: 
 

‘The Cabinet and Council have on many occasions wished to treat all retail markets fairly.  It 
is upsetting that Long Sutton is to be adversely treated by having to pay an extra £1.50 (£8.50 
instead of £7.00), over 60% increase, just because of a closure of the Market Place.  Bearing 
in mind the large sums of Council Tax and business rates paid by the eastern communities 
in South Holland for distant District facilities in Spalding, we want all to be charged alike’.  

 
2.3 Councillors Brewis and Tyrrell consider the decision maker should take the following action 

to address the concerns raised: 
 

‘’We ask that the Long Sutton Market Charge be reconsidered and reduced to the same as 
the others (currently recommended £7.00)’. 

 
2.4 Councillor Brewis and Tyrrell consider the following alternative decision should be made: 
 
 ‘Reduce charges at Long Sutton Market to match the others in the District of South Holland’. 
  

Page 4



3.0 OPTIONS 

 

3.1 The Panel has the following options: 

 

a. To take no further action in relation to the call in (in this event, the proposed decision 

will take effect from the date of the Panel meeting).   

 

b. To refer the proposed decision back to Cabinet setting out in writing the nature of its  

concerns.  (In this event, the Cabinet will re-consider the matter.  Having regard to the 

views of the Panel, the Cabinet will make a final decision, which may or may not amend 

the original decision.  This decision will not be subject to call-in (unless it is believed to 

be contrary to the Policy Framework or Budget). The Cabinet must explain the decision 

in relation to the concerns raised by the call in. 

 

c. If, having taken officer advice, the Panel considers that the decision is contrary to the 

Policy Framework or Budget, it may refer the matter to full Council.  In this event, the 

Council will consider the matter within 15 days.  If the Council does not consider the 

decision to be contrary to the Policy Framework or Budget, then it becomes effective on 

the date of the Council meeting. If the Council decides that it is contrary to the Policy 

Framework or Budget, then it can approve an amendment to the Policy Framework or 

Budget, in which case the decision will take effect from the date of the Council meeting.  

If the Council refuses to amend the Policy Framework or Budget, it can refer the matter 

back to Cabinet, who have to meet to consider the matter within 15 days.  The 

Cabinet’s decision is not subject to call in.  If the Council approves an amendment to 

the Policy Framework or Budget it can still refer the matter back to Cabinet for final 

decision – again, this matter is not subject to call in. 

 

4.0 IMPLICATIONS 

 

In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the 

decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues;  

Constitutional & Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Data Protection; 

Equality & Diversity/Human Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk 

Management; Safeguarding; Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales; 

Transformation Programme; Other. Where the report author considers that there may be 

implications under one or more of these headings, these are identified below. 

 

4.1 Constitutional & Legal 

 

4.1.1 Provision for call-in is a legal and constitutional requirement. The options and process are 

set out in the body of the report. 

 

4.2 Stakeholders / Constitution / Timescales 

 

4.2.1 The call-in timetable is set out in the body of the report 

 

5.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED 

 

5.1 Market traders trading at Long Sutton market. 

 

Page 5



6.0 ACRONYMS 

 

6.1 None. 

 

Background papers:-  

 

Lead Contact Officer 

Name and Post: Christine Morgan – Democratic Services Team Leader 

Telephone Number  

Email: cmorgan@sholland.gov.uk 

 

Key Decision: N  

 

Exempt Decision: N  

 

 

Appendices attached to this report:  

Appendix  Market Consultation Outcome report and appendices (covering 

report and Appendices A, B and C as considered at Cabinet on 26 

October 2021) 

Page 6



APPENDIX 

SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 

 

Report of: Portfolio Holder for Environmental Services  

 

To: Cabinet Tuesday, 26 October 2021  

 

(Author: Charlotte Paine Head of Environmental and Operational Services) 

 

Subject Market Consultation Outcome 

 

Purpose: To provide an analysis of the public consultation undertaken regarding the 

market handbook and fees and consider the options for future market 

provisions 

 

 
Recommendation(s):  
 
1) To approve adoption of the Markets Regulation Handbook following consultation from 18th 

June to 30th July 2021. 
  

2) That the Head of Environmental and Operational Services, in consultation with the Portfolio 
Holder for Environmental Services, be given delegated authority to make changes to the 
Market Regulation Handbook as necessary, following approval of the proposed options of 
this report. 

 
3) To approve adoption of the new fee structure as consulted upon and approve annual review. 

 
4) That Option Two, as set out in paragraph 2.2, be approved to ensure investment and growth 

in our markets and the ability to take action on the results of the consultation and implement 
the key findings, such as pop-up stalls and improved engagement. 

a. That a new post of Markets Manager be introduced for a two-year fixed term trial to 
deliver the objectives of option two funded from the Investment and Growth Reserve 
as detailed in 5.5. 
 

5) That the current suspension of stall erection and dismantling be made a permanent change 
to market provision, as reflected in the new fee structure.  
 

6) That the attached Equality Impact Assessment its noted. 
 

7) That the current road closure in Long Sutton is made permanent to ensure the safe running 
of the market and maintain the high levels of social gatherings in and around Market Place 
each Friday. 
 

 

1.0 BACKGROUND 

 

1.1 South Holland has responsibility for 5 markets across 4 towns of the district. Markets are an 

important and historic part of our towns. Across the country they have faced many 

challenges over the years, including the rise of online and out of town shopping retailers, 

competition from unregulated car boot sales, as well as the recent Covid pandemic.  

 

Page 7



1.2 In order to understand how we can best support the continuation, sustainability and future 

of our markets, a recent public consultation into the draft market regulations handbook and 

proposed fees and charges, took the opportunity to engage in more detail with the people 

on our markets. This consultation engaged with a broad range of statutory and non-

statutory stakeholders, including traders, visitors to the markets, members of the public, 

parish councils and local businesses. The feedback provided much needed data on who 

visits our markets and why, as well as what they like and would like to see improved on our 

markets.  

 

1.3 Using this data, which is analysed in detail in appendix A, this report looks to achieve the 

following key outcomes; 

 

• Approval to adopt the draft market regulations handbook 

• Approval to introduce the new fee structure 

• Approval on the recommended option for the future delivery of market 

services including; 

➢ Options for stall provision, for regular and new traders 

➢ Ensuring our markets offer is Equality Act 2010 compliant and 

have due regard to the public sector equality duty. 

➢ Options on how to best provide and resource the recommended 

option 

• Approval to maintain safe and social markets, including formally adopting the 

road closure at Long Sutton market 

 

1.4 As a result of the pandemic, and the government guidance issued as they assessed the 

ongoing need, the markets of South Holland were closed on 24th March 2020 for the safety 

of traders and the public, in line with guidance at that time. The report to Cabinet of 16th 

June 2020, set out how to safely re-open markets with the most up to date guidance 

available. It therefore outlined the changes required to get markets trading again, whilst 

ensuring staff, traders and the public continued to be kept safe. 

 

1.5 One of the recommendations of that report was for the market handbook to be amended in 

line with the recommendations set out and agreed at Cabinet. Following approval of the 

report, the environmental services team commenced reviewing and drafting the handbook, 

benchmarking it with other local authority markets and engaging with traders to assist with 

the shaping of the draft handbook.  

 

1.6 The purpose of the market regulations handbook is to set out the matters the Council will 

take into account when considering and undertaking its duty to provide and manage its 

markets. It details the responsibilities of the council in official guidance of the policy for the 

Council to act in a particular way and the expectation set of the traders. As the changes to 

the market regulations handbook were substantial and in formative stages, following the 

impact of Covid, and also included changes to the fees charged to traders, it was 

considered appropriate to exercise fairness and permit intelligent consideration by 

undertaking a public consultation into the proposed changes before bringing them forward 

to be considered to be adopted. 

 

1.7 The consultation looked to encourage open and meaningful engagement on the draft 

handbook and proposed fees to ensure that the final document represented the needs and 

responsibilities of SHDC and the traders, as well as to support the future of our markets. 

Page 8



Full analysis of the consultation, including how it was undertaken and what information it 

captured, is provided in Appendix A.  

 

1.8 As a result of the consultation programme, the feedback that was received has been 

considered and the handbook has been further reviewed and altered in line with that 

feedback. The finalised version of the market regulations handbook and the proposed fees 

are recommended for approval. A copy of the handbook is included at Appendix B. 

 

1.9 In addition to seeking views on the handbook and fees, the consultation also took the 

opportunity to engage regarding SHDC markets in more detail. This enabled the collection 

of data relating to footfall across each of the markets, information about what visitors liked 

about the markets, what they would like to see introduced and thoughts on specific 

elements in the handbook, including stalls and opening times.  

 

1.10 The results of the consultation were presented to Policy Development Panel on 21st 

September 2021. The recommendations of this report are made following full analysis of 

the data collected during the 6-week consultation and discussions with members, in order 

to support the ongoing success and growth of SHDC markets. Having given conscientious 

consideration to the responses received, it is clear that the markets are valued by the 

community and considered to be a vital part of our towns and that our residents, visitors, 

businesses and members wish to see it continue and develop further. The options provided 

look at how best we can deliver that. 

 

 

2.0 OPTIONS 

 

2.1 Option One – Adopt the draft market regulations handbook and proposed fees and 

give consideration only to the consultation responses. Adoption of the draft handbook 

and proposed fees will enable the Council the power to implement the changes sought 

through the market regulations handbook.  Without conscientious consideration to the 

consultation responses, the Council will not be able to grow the markets with the feedback 

of market stakeholders. This is not the recommended option of the report as without further 

investment and development on the key findings of the consultation, growth and initiatives 

such as pop-up stalls will be difficult to introduce, due to current levels of resource. 

 

2.2 Option Two – Invest in the future and growth of the markets including adoption of 

the draft handbook and proposed fees. To approve the introduction of the market 

regulations handbook and proposed fees and to implement key feedback received from the 

consultation. This would enable growth and desirability of markets and implementation of 

the key findings, such as pop-up stalls, by introducing a new resource in the form of a 

markets manager to ensure service development and delivery. Without this post, full and 

conscientious consideration of the consultation and its findings would not be achievable. It 

is suggested that the post be introduced initially as a two-year fixed term post to trial its 

success and deliverables. This is the recommended option of this report. 

 

2.3 Option Three – Do nothing. This would mean continuing as we are without adopting the 

handbook and fees and would mean that we do not address the responses of the 

consultation, lose the opportunity to grow our markets and may present risk to SHDC in 

non-compliance of its public sector duty.  

 

Page 9



3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S) 

 

3.1 The adoption of the market regulation handbook is vital to the ongoing running of our 

markets. It makes clear the requirements of SHDC and traders and sets out how to keep 

traders and the public safe whilst at our markets. The handbook required a review following 

the previous Cabinet report of June 2020 and the changes that have been made, in many 

parts, due to the pandemic. Both option one and two recommend that the handbook is 

adopted, though some minor wording changes may be required depending upon which 

option is approved. It is recommended that this would be done by the environmental 

services team in consultation with the portfolio holder through delegated authority.   

 

3.2 The current fees do not take into account the changes that have been required since the 

re-opening of markets in June and July 2020. For that reason, as well as to support traders 

and the markets through the pandemic, there have been no fees in place since the re-

opening last year. The proposed fees have been formulated with the current market 

provisions considered. This includes the road closure in Long Sutton and the removal of 

council provided stalls in Spalding markets. Therefore, both option one and two 

recommend the adoption of these fees, which were taken through public consultation and 

did not receive substantive objection.  

 

3.3 The current fee structure is set in such a way that it looks to recover the costs for running 

the markets, though some areas are not fully recharged to traders, the road closure for 

example, which seeks a payment to towards the overall cost. The fees are set that they 

could potentially reduce if more traders stand at a market, which would reduce the cost to 

each trader. Therefore, it is a recommendation that the fees are reviewed each year in the 

same way, taking into consideration running costs and number of traders standing, and that 

new fees be proposed and set as part of the budget process. This would mean that the 

next review would take place and be ready for implementation in the 2023/24 budget fee 

setting approval process. 

 

3.4 The fees consulted upon and recommended are shown in the table below and represent 

the cost per 10ft stall.  

 

Markets 
 

Current Charges 

Proposed New 

Charges 

Difference from 

Current Charges 
 

 

Crowland £5.10 £7.00 37%  

Long Sutton £5.10 £8.50 67%  

Holbeach £5.10 £7.00 37%  

Spalding Sat £19.00 £7.00 -63%  

Spalding Tue £19.00 £7.00 -63%  

 

 

3.5 As detailed in the handbook, the new proposed charges aim to provide a simple model that 

aims to achieve cost recovery fairly across all markets in the district. All markets will benefit 

from the new proposals set out in the handbook such as;  

Page 10



• The Council will provide an on-hand markets team to help with any queries 

or issues 7.30am – 5pm Monday to Friday, with out of hours support 

available during other hours;  

• The Council will promote the markets via SHDC website and social media 

channels; 

• The Council will facilitate the online application process and check you have 

everything in place to be able to stand on our markets; 

• The Council will facilitate and run the online booking system that will secure 

traders position on the markets; 

• The Council will work with the market engagement group to ensure two-way 

communication with our stallholders that supports the growth of the market; 

• The Council will update stallholders with any relevant Government advice or 

legislation; 

• Long Sutton market has an additional proposed cost of £1.50 to cover a 

proportion of the road closure costs incurred by the council.  

 

3.6 Option one provides no further additional support to the markets current position. It does 

not allow for the key information submitted by respondents as part of the public consultation 

process to be taken into account and utilised to better improve the SHDC markets offering, 

such as pop-up stalls, due to the limitations of the resource currently in place. This 

resource is currently split into the provision of operational support, attendance at the 

markets for trader support, communication and engagement and layout revision. Alongside 

administrative support for trader applications, bookings, general advice and 

correspondence and reporting requirements. As well as assistance from both officers with 

events such as Pumpkin celebrations. Both these officers are multidisciplinary and support 

other areas of the council, such as car parks and garden waste. 

 

3.7 The Council must ensure that it is acting in compliance of the public sector duty and that it 

is demonstrated that decision-makers are fully aware of the impact that changes may have 

on stakeholders. An Equality Impact assessment has been completed as part of the public 

consultation process, and attached as Appendix C. This assessment identifies a number of 

areas that must be addressed to reduce the risk to SHDC and support all members of the 

community to access the service being offered. For option one, this would need to be 

achieved within current resource. For example, the EqIA identifies that it would be 

necessary for assistance to be provided for those who cannot access our online application 

and services, which would sit within our administrative support. It will also be necessary to 

aid those who have identified as requiring assistance with setting up their own stalls, which 

would be provided by our operational support.  

 

3.8 Option two however, recommends that the markets are fully invested in as part of a 

programme to deliver the key elements that the current officers have identified, and those 

raised in the consultation. These key elements include such things as; 

 

• developing the markets and their individual characters,  

• increasing footfall into the town centres, 

• building on successes of our markets as social hubs,  

• attracting new traders, 

• attracting a wider variety of stalls and commodities,  

• introduction of pop-up stalls to support new businesses and younger traders, 

• enhancing engagement, including through trader representatives,  

Page 11



• consideration of new KPI’s to ensure success of the markets,  

• displaying and requiring food hygiene standards.   

 

3.9 The proposal of option two is that by growing on what is currently in place and adding in a 

market’s manager post, the strategic direction and growth of markets can be realised. It 

would be the responsibility of that post to do this through the feedback collected by the 

consultation, benchmarking and learning from others, utilising bodies such as NABMA and 

working closer with traders and businesses to build on the markets and attract people to 

our towns and more traders to our markets.  

 

3.10 Option two will also unlock the potential of pop-up stalls which have been a long-awaited 

ambition of the Council and have been seen to be desired by those who responded to the 

consultation. These stalls can be utilised to attract and support micro businesses, young 

traders, crafters and traders that want to try our markets before committing longer term. 

Without a dedicated resource to drive this initiative forward clearly, there is a risk of under 

use of the stalls or potential risks of theft, damage or harm if the risk assessments are not 

fully considered and implemented. Additionally, without this support to provide pop-ups, we 

risk being unable to offer these services to everyone, as identified in the EqIA. 88% of 

respondents to the public consultation wanted to see the pop-up stalls introduced, therefore 

this recommendation of a dedicated post, looks to suggest how SHDC can best provide this 

option, in the safest way and meet its public sector duty.  Ensuring due regard to that duty 

in consideration of pop-up stall provision and erection so as meet the needs of service 

users and reduce inequality.  

 

3.11 The Cabinet report of 16 June 2020 recommended the suspension of market stall erection 

and dismantling by SHDC staff. Following the implementation of this for the last 16 months, 

and the recent consultation which requested feedback on this practice, the 

recommendation of this report is to formalise the removal of this provision permanently. In 

making this recommendation, consideration has been given to the impact to traders that 

would need additional support to enable ongoing access to our services. This is addressed 

in the EqIA and the paragraph above as to how we would put in the support to remove any 

potential for inequality. The consultation feedback was that 23% of respondents agreed that 

traders should provide their own ‘fit for purpose stall’ whilst 16% disagreed and almost 40% 

had no response or were unsure. There were concerns raised about the potential for such 

a policy to potentially put traders off or impact disabled traders. All of these have been 

considered and the EqIA and proposal for pop-up stalls would support our efforts to ensure 

this would not happen as a result of the recommendation to remove the previous stall 

provision.  

 

3.12 Following the closure of markets last year, the Long Sutton market re-opened in July 2020 

with a temporary road closure agreed with Lincolnshire County Council. The last 14 months 

have seen the market grow from strength to strength with this road closure enabling traders 

to stand, with a safe distance kept for customers of both the market and local businesses. 

The new positioning has ensured the market has continued safely in Long Sutton and be 

well placed alongside local businesses to continue the tradition of the market being 

somewhere people go on a Friday for a social and shopping occasion. The consultation 

supported this by showing that Long Sutton had the highest responses for those attending 

to shop at the market and for socialising, with 93% and 44% respectively, providing these 

as the reasons for why they attend the market.  

 

Page 12



3.13 Having taken all of this into account, the recommendation is to continue this placement of 

the market and seek a permanent road closure with Lincolnshire County Council. This will 

enable local businesses to continue to expand and promote pavement licenses and build 

on the social aspects of markets whilst keeping traders and visitors safe whilst visiting the 

market and local businesses.  

 

3.14 Within Appendix A, Section 6, we saw a number of respondents ask for additional elements 

to be considered for our markets. All this feedback is essential to understanding how we 

can better grow and develop the markets. It is the recommendation of this report that option 

two will look to review and address these, where appropriate and deliverable, including a 

better understanding of the definition of ‘fit for purpose’ when referencing stalls on the 

markets. 

 

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS 

 

4.1 Option two is the recommended option of this report as it looks to achieve the following 

benefits: 

 

• Adoption of a markets regulation handbook that clearly sets out the 

expectations of traders and SHDC. This will ensure that traders and the 

public are safe when attending our markets, as well as a host of other 

benefits that are outlined in appendix A. It is the grounding of an improving 

relationship with traders as we work together to grow our markets. 

• Adoption of a proposed fee structure that supports traders with a clear fee 

structure that will be reviewed annually and looks to encourage more traders 

and provides improved support in areas such as marketing. 

• Compliance of the public sector duty with delivery of the mitigations 

highlighted in our EqIA. Ensuring that assistance is provided to those 

seeking to use our services, making the markets accessible and advancing 

equality. 

• Introduction of a dedicated resource to deliver on the findings of the 

consultation and growth of markets. Having given conscientious 

consideration to the responses received through the consultation, the 

recommended option will provide the resource needed to deliver on the key 

findings detailed in Appendix A and paragraph 3.8 of this report. 

• Developing on the opportunity for markets to thrive in our towns. Markets are 

vital to our high streets, to offering local produce to our residents and 

supporting our local businesses to continue to grow and thrive. Markets can 

help to drive more people into our towns and create social hubs which are 

needed now, more than ever.  

 

4.2 Option two looks to deliver all of the above through the work undertaken so far and seeks 

to drive forward new opportunities with a dedicated resource. The data collected through 

the market consultation provides a great basis from which to start delivering on the 

aspirations of SHDC and its markets’ stakeholders. 

 

4.3 Option one however, would only be able to achieve the first two bullets of the above list of 

expected benefits. 

 

5.0 IMPLICATIONS 

 

Page 13



In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the 

decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues;  

Constitutional & Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Data Protection; 

Equality & Diversity/Human Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk 

Management; Safeguarding; Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales; 

Transformation Programme; Other. Where the report author considers that there may be 

implications under one or more of these headings, these are identified below. 

 

5.1 Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues 

The consultation did seek views on opportunities to address potential environmental issues 

affecting the markets. Option two would provide resource to consider these responses 

further. 

 

5.2 Corporate Priorities 

The current corporate plan details how SHDC look to ‘promote and support business 

growth’ and have ‘attractive places that people want to visit, live and work’. The 

recommended option of this report looks to achieve both of these aspirations.  

 

5.3 Equality and Diversity / Human Rights 

This was non-statutory public consultation compliant with the Gunning Principles.  
An Equality Impact Assessment has been completed and is attached to this report. 
The EqIA identifies a number of areas that will be addressed to reduce the risk to SHDC 
and support all members of the community to access the service being offered. For 
example, the EqIA identifies that it would be necessary for assistance to be provided for 
those who cannot access our online application and services, this will be offered and 
provided within our administrative support. It has also identified that a decision to stop 
erecting stalls will require SHDC to aid those who have identified as requiring assistance 
with setting up their own stalls. This provision will be provided by our operational support. 
 

5.4 Financial 

The recommendation to introduce a dedicated markets manager post, on an initial fixed 

term basis, will incur additional costs as this was not part of the 2021/22 budget setting 

process. This would be a new post and therefore the job description will require job 

evaluation to ensure the grading is accurate. The Job description will be created using 

benchmarking and understanding of the key outcomes that are identified in this report and 

through the consultation. 

Based on the benchmarking undertaken so far, it is anticipated that this post will be graded 

in the region of an E (SCP 11-19). This would see costs up to £80,000 based on the 

highest pay and including on costs. This is subject to job evaluation and would be funded 

from the Investment and Growth Reserve. 

 

5.5 Health & Wellbeing 

Markets can support the health and wellbeing of those attending them through access to 

fresh and local produce in an environment that fosters social interaction in an outdoor 

setting. The ongoing success of our markets can look to sit alongside suitable health and 

wellbeing initiatives in the council.  

 

5.6 Reputation 

The consideration and implementation of the findings of the consultation look to support 

SHDC in maintaining a positive reputation regarding its markets and its willingness to invest 

in them and local businesses. 

 

Page 14



5.7 Risk Management 

There is a risk to SHDC if it does not address the issues that have been highlighted through 

its EqIA and the necessary resources needed to address these. Therefore, option two is 

recommended to ensure that these are suitably resourced and addressed. 

 

5.8 Staffing 

Current staffing to deliver our markets is achieved through staff in multidisciplined roles 

across environmental services. The recommended option looks to put in place a dedicated 

resource to achieve a cohesive offer to markets and drive forward the findings of the 

consultation, engagement with traders and local businesses and support the current 

staffing resource. This would look to be introduced as a two-year fixed term post initially to 

consider if the post can be successful in delivering the growth and suggested outcomes. It 

is worth noting that there is the opportunity, as part of the new South East Lincolnshire 

Partnership, to consider if the new markets manager resource could be shared across the 

partnership to reduce costs. 

 

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED 

 

6.1 All 

 

7.0 ACRONYMS 

 

7.1 SHDC – South Holland District Council 

7.2 EqIA – Equality Impact Assessment 

 

 

Background papers:-  

 

Lead Contact Officer 

Name and Post: Charlotte Paine Head of Environmental and Operational Services 

Telephone Number  

Email: cpaine@sholland.gov.uk 

 

Key Decision: N  

 

Exempt Decision: N  

 

This report refers to a Discretionary Service  

 

Appendices attached to this report:  

Appendix A Consultation Analysis Document 

Appendix B Market Regulations Handbook 

Appendix C  Equality Impact Assessment 

 

 

Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

APPENDIX A 

SHDC Markets – Public Consultation Response Report 

Table of Contents 
1. INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND .............................................................................................. 1 

2. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY .................................................................................................................... 2 

3. CONSULTATION PROGRAMME ....................................................................................................... 3 

Pre consultation enagement ............................................................................................................... 3 

Consultation Framework..................................................................................................................... 3 

On-Site Engagement Sessions ............................................................................................................. 4 

Public Engagement ............................................................................................................................. 4 

4. CONSULTATION DOCUMENTS ........................................................................................................ 4 

Questionnaire ..................................................................................................................................... 5 

5. KEY FINDINGS .................................................................................................................................. 5 

6. QUESTIONNAIRE RESPONSE ANALYSIS ........................................................................................... 7 

7. INDIVIDUAL MARKET RESPONSES ................................................................................................. 18 

Crowland ........................................................................................................................................... 18 

Holbeach ........................................................................................................................................... 19 

Long Sutton ....................................................................................................................................... 19 

Spalding (Tuesday) ............................................................................................................................ 19 

Spalding (Saturday) ........................................................................................................................... 19 

8. EMAIL AND LETTER RESPONSES .................................................................................................... 20 

 

1. INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
This repot summarises the responses to a public consultation on a draft Market Regulations 

Handbook and proposed changes to Fees and Charges for South Hollands’ four street markets. 

The district of South Holland holds five regular markets with approximately 246 pitches available 

in total, operating at Crowland, Holbeach, Long Sutton and twice weekly in Spalding (Tuesday & 

Saturday).  As of October 2020, 73 pitches were let and assumed let for 2021 is 117. 

The purpose of the Market Regulations Handbook is to set out the matters the “Council” will take 

into account when considering and undertaking its duty to provide and manage its markets. 

The Market Regulations Handbook and Fees and Charges aim to: 

• Build a sustainable and equitable market provision throughout the district for traders 

addressing regulation in the draft Market Regulation Handbook; 

• Provide welcoming and safe environments for traders and market visitors. 

Page 17



2 
 

• Provide an on-hand markets team to help with any queries or issues 7.30am – 5pm Monday 

to Friday; an out of hours service at all other times. 

• Support the growth of the district’s markets 

• Promote the markets via SHDC website and social media channels; 

• Facilitate an online application process to support SHDC’s digital transformation programme; 

• Facilitate and run an on-line booking system to secure traders have a standing position on the 

market; 

• Ensure the service fees and charges are “Hemming” compliant; 

• Levying Fees and Charges that better reflect the cost to SHDC of providing the Markets 

operation; 

• Provide for fairer and more consistent fees and charges across all individual markets; 

The aims of the public consultation were to understand: 

• What is important to customers from the opening hours, to items sold and the local 

environment; 

• How residents use the markets; 

• How SHDC can support more people to become traders; 

• A response to the proposed fees and charges; 

• Views across the district relating to: regulation and enforcement, marketing and 

promotion, food standards, stakeholder engagement by way of market representatives, 

sustainability. 

The markets covered by the consultation were: 

o Crowland 

o Holbeach 

o Long Sutton 

o Spalding (Tuesday and Saturday) 

2. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
This reports seeks to implement a revised Market Regulations Handbook and a revised set of 

Fees and Charges relating to the five (5) street markets in four (4) towns in the South Holland 

District, following public consultation approved by The Portfolio Holder for Environmental 

Services on 3 June 2021.   

The public consultation on the draft “Market Regulations Handbook” and the proposed “Fees 

and Charges” formally ran between 9.00am Friday 18 June 2021 and 5.00pm Friday 30 July 

2021.  The Council adopted a six (6) week consultation period and engaged with a broad range 

of consultees. 

To encourage open and maximum possible contribution a programme of consultation 

consisted of print, online and face to face communication.  Prior to the launch of the official 

consultation a period of pre-engagement took place between members of the markets team 

and Traders.  Traders were engaged before the formal consultation period to ensure they 

were aware of the impending consultation and how they would be able to give their feedback 

and opinion. 

The proposals also included concessions for charitable stalls, one allocated “Charity Pitch” will 

be available to registered charities, free of charge per market.  Each registered charity will 

Page 18



3 
 

have the opportunity to book a pitch, once per calendar month.  Any additional bookings 

within a calendar month will be considered as a causal trader and the regulations of the 

handbook apply. Market regulations Handbook p 6.      

A new initiative for consideration of introduction is for first time stallholders to be able to hire 

“Pop Up Stalls”.  The Council has purchased two 3m x 3m gazebos and these will be made 

available to rent, at an additional cost to the rentee and subject to contract agreements such 

as a refundable deposit, return in good order and condition clause, for a maximum rental 

period of six (6) weeks. 

3. CONSULTATION PROGRAMME  
The public consultation sought to encourage a broad a range of response as possible, from 

traders, residents, workers, business owners and visitors to the district.  The programme of 

engagement took place, in person, online and via a communications programme. 

Both on line and print / off line communication channels were adopted to ensure a wide a 

consultation as possible.  All information about the consultation was posted on the South 

Holland District Council website, this website is host to all of SHDC’s public consultations.  

Consultation documentation included: Draft Market Regulations Handbook and proposed 

Fees and Charges document, questionnaire and a regularly updated Frequently Asked 

Questions document. 

Pre consultation engagement 
After the decision to approve the consultation was given and prior to the formal launch of the 

public consultation the markets team undertook a series of pre-engagement opportunities to 

inform traders at each market of the up-coming consultation, to enable questions to be raised 

before the formal consultation launch date. 

Consultation Framework 
18 June 2021 – Email sent to all known SHDC market traders, providing the consultation pack, 

setting out the aim of the consultation and informing traders how they could participate and 

signposting to the SHDC website; 

18 June 2021 – Email sent to statutory undertakers, providing the consultation pack, setting 

out the aim of the consultation and informing traders how they could participate and 

signposting to the SHDC website; 

18 June 2021 – Email sent to all known service providers and service users, providing the 

consultation pack, setting out the aim of the consultation and informing interested parties 

how they could participate and signposting to the SHDC website; 

18 June 2021 – 30.07.2021 - Draft Market Regulations Handbook and questionnaire available 

in hard copy at Council Offices, Priory Road, Spalding; 

21 July 2021 - Following the removal on 19 July 2021 of national restrictions relating to the 

Coronavirus pandemic, allowing for the free movement of people, consultation packs were 

distributed to 13 community centres across the district on 21 July 2021; 

19 June 2021 – 30 July 2021 - On-going local press media and a social media programme 

(Facebook / LinkedIn / Twitter) with signposting, dates and times of drop in sessions; 

Page 19



4 
 

19 June 2021 – 30 July 2021 - On-going - SHDC Member engagement; 

On-going - Market on-site engagement sessions held at each market (see below); 

19 June 2021 – 30 July 2021 – The SHDC website was updated with all the relevant information 

on the draft handbook, proposed fees and charges and regularly updated FAQ’s; giving 

consultees clear information on how to engage and participate with the consultation. 

23 July 2021 – reminder email sent to all known consultees – encouraging a final opportunity 

for participation. 

On-Site Engagement Sessions 
Five on-site engagement sessions were held across the district attended by Officers of 

Environmental Services and SHDC Elected Members.  The sessions offered the opportunity for 

anyone who wished so to do to discuss the consultation and complete a questionnaire.   

Officers completed the questionnaire for those people who wished to participate but did not 

have the means to complete the questionnaire themselves.  Officers and Councillors were 

available between 9.00am and 2.00pm on the dates shown below.  These times coincided 

with the normal market operating hours. 

Public Engagement 
Crowland Holbeach Long Sutton Spalding 

Friday 9 July 2021 Thursday 8 July 2021 Friday 16 July 2021 Tuesday 6 July 2021 
Saturday 17 July 2021 
 

8.30am – 2.00pm 8.30am – 2.00pm 8.30am – 2.00pm 8.30am – 2.00pm 

4. CONSULTATION DOCUMENTS 
The consultation documents included the draft Market Regulations Handbook, proposed Fees 

and Charges document and a questionnaire, these were distributed widely by email, on 

request, at Council Offices Priory Road, Spalding, at drop-in sessions at markets and at 

community centres.  Alternative formats were available on request. 

Online distribution was shared via local press: Spalding Voice and Spalding Today and social 

media: SHDC Facebook page, LinkedIn and Twitter. 

A FAQ document was developed, reviewed and periodically updated in response to 

question(s) raised by consultees during the course of the public consultation.   

The themes of the questionnaire included, how customers use each of the markets; 

operational and regulatory issues (open to customers and traders); goods for sale and the 

environment. 

Due to the Covid – 19 national restrictions in place at the launch of the consultation the 

consultation pack was not made not available to view at public libraries however, a hard copy 

was available for inspection at the council office, Priory Road, Spalding and on the SHDC 

website.   

When national restrictions were relaxed on 19 July 2021 a hard copy of the consultation pack 

was provided to thirteen (13) community centres across the district namely: 

 

Page 20



5 
 

 

• Nene Court – Spalding • Cecil Pywell Avenue, Holbeach 

• Sezanne Walk – Spalding • Lyndis Walk, Holbeach 

• Linden Court, Spalding • Hargate Close – Fleet Hargate 

• Line Court, Spalding • Park Court - Weston 

• Glen Haven, Pinchbeck • Spring Gardens – Long Sutton 

• Arthurs Avenue, Holbeach • St Marys Gardens – Long Sutton 

• St Matthews Drive – Sutton Bridge  

 

Questionnaire 
To encourage feedback a consultation questionnaire was developed and made available in 

hard copy, via email or via the SHDC website and via Survey Monkey.   It was available to any 

individual or organisation who wished to participate in the consultation.  The questionnaire 

was available, on request in alternative format and large print. 

The questionnaire sought to garner views from markets traders, users and visitors to the 

market(s).  It encouraged responses via closed questions relating to strongly agree to strongly 

disagree and open questions were also asked.  Comment boxes were available to allow 

respondents to offer open comments about the market(s).   

All open ended questions in the consultation questionnaire were coded into themes to allow 

responses to be quantified.  This involved reading every response to these questions and 

creation of a code framework. 

Completed hard copies were returned to the council offices at Priory Road, Spalding and to 

West Marsh Road, Spalding and also received at public engagement sessions.   

5. KEY FINDINGS 
A broad range of responses were received from the target audiences and mainly via the 

consultation questionnaire, which was hosted on line and as well as taking place at public 

engagement events.  Paper copies were available on request and via the SHDC website. 

N.B Some of the questions in the questionnaire allowed respondents to tick multiple 

categories as a “select all that apply” option.  Therefore in some analysis the sum of the 

response to the question may be higher than the total. 

• There were a total of 207 responses to the consultation 

• 192 questionnaire responses received via online and hard copy. 

o 81 were received at the public engagement events 

▪ 11 – Crowland 

▪ 15 – Holbeach 

▪ 10 – Long Sutton 

▪ 15 – Spalding Saturday 

▪ 30 – Spalding Tuesday 

• 15 Written responses 

• 67 responses were anonymous 

• The largest proportion of questionnaire responses came from South Holland Resident 

166 (86%), followed by Other (19), Market Traders (12), Business Owner (6), Visitor to 

the District (2).   

Page 21



6 
 

• No petitions were received 

 There is strong support for: 
 

• Supporting local traders – 76.56% of respondents liked this most about visiting the 

markets. 

• Food Standards – 72.92% of respondents think it is important those stall holders 

trading with food should sign up and display food standards ratings. 

• Pop-Up stalls – 88.02% of respondents would like to see Pop-Up stalls introduced. 

There is also support for: 

• More seating areas – 58.33% of respondents would like to see more / improved 

seating areas 

• Contactless card payments – 45.31% of respondents would like to see traders offer 

contactless card payment facilities. 

Common Themes from respondents: 

• Demand for variety – 38.54% of respondents cited lack of variety as a reason for 

disliking the markets.  

• Keep the markets affordable for traders.   

• Lack of seating – 20.83% of respondents gave opinion to make the markets of 

South Holland district more attractive to spend time at. 

  

Page 22



7 
 

6. QUESTIONNAIRE RESPONSE ANALYSIS  
The analysis is reported in the order of the questionnaire. The questionnaire received 192 

responses. 

Q. I wish to respond and I am (select all that apply) 

Overall the vast majority of respondents 166 (86.46%) were South Holland residents    

The “other” category includes Parish Councils, Members of South Holland District Council, 

charitable organisations and where no answer was supplied. 

 

Q.  How often do you visit the markets in South Holland? 

The vast majority of respondents 142 (66.67%) visit the market(s) at least once a week.  

 

 

 

 

166

12 6 0 2
19

South Holland
resident

South Holland
market trader

South Holland
business
owner

Work in the
District but do
not live here

Visitor to the
District but do
not live here

Other (please
specify)

0
20
40
60
80

100
120
140
160
180

I wish to respond and I am (select all which apply)

142

26

4 3 4
13

At least once
a week

At least once
a month

Seasonally Several
times a year

Once a year
or less

It varies

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

How often do you visit the markets in South Holland?

Page 23



8 
 

Q.  What time of day do you visit the markets in South Holland? 

The vast majority of respondents 128 (67%) visit the markets in the mornings. 

 

Q.  Why do you visit the market? 

Respondents were asked for the views on why they come to the market place. The overview 

of all 5 markets in the district demonstrates shopping in an outdoor market is the main 

attraction.   

 

  

128

9 11

44

Mornings Afternoons Lunchtime It varies

0

50

100

150

What time of day do you generally visit the market?

Crowland Holbeach Long Sutton
Spalding

(Tues)
Spalding

(Sat)

Shopping in the outdoor market 73% 71% 93% 81% 80%

Other shopping 30% 49% 50% 54% 62%

For work or study 21% 11% 9% 9% 5%

Socialising 24% 11% 44% 27% 29%

As a thoroughfare 9% 4% 9% 12% 14%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Why do you visit the market?

Shopping in the outdoor market Other shopping For work or study

Socialising As a thoroughfare

Page 24



9 
 

Q.  What do you like about the market? (select all that apply) 

192 people responded.  147 (76.56%) the majority of respondents like supporting local traders 

the most.  109 (57%) feel the market offers good quality.  Nearly half 93 (48.44%) like that it 

increases footfall to the wider town or high street and 80 (42%) like the market as a place to 

socialise.  54 (28.13%) respondents made “other” their choice and reasons include a most a 

repeat of the above including it adds vitality to the whole town centre. 

 

 

 

Q.  What do you dislike about the market (select all that apply) 

192 respondents. 74 (38.54%) respondents dislike the lack of variety on the market.  

67 (34.90%) dislike nothing about the market. 20% feel there is not enough seating.      

59 (30.73%) respondents made “other” their choice and reiterated a dislike for the decreasing 

number of stalls, incidents of anti-social behaviour and pigeons. 

 

  

147
109 93 80 79

54

Supporting
local traders

It
represents

good quality

Increases
footfall to
the town

It's a good
meeting

place

Variety of
stalls

Other
(please
specify)

0

50

100

150

200

What do you like about the market? (select all 
which apply)

74
67

59

40

17
9

Lack of
variety

Nothing Other (please
specify)

Lack of
seating

Uneven
surfaces to

walk on

Location

0
10
20
30
40
50
60
70
80

What do you dislike about the market? (select all which 
apply)

Page 25



10 
 

Q. If you could change one single thing to improve our markets what would it be? 

Respondents were asked an open question and offered the opportunity to comment.  

168 responses. Overall the most popular response from respondents is for more stalls / 

traders and an increase in variety – 81 respondents (46%).

 

Q. To what extent do you agree or disagree with the following statement: the Council should 

engage regularly with traders through their appointed market representatives. 

Respondents were asked to decide on a strongly agree to strongly disagree scale.   

82 respondents replied.  Average of responses   = AGREE  

  

57

24

9

9

7

4

4

6

5

5

4

3

2

3

2

2

2

2

2

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

0 10 20 30 40 50 60

More Stalls / Traders

Increase variety

SH to provide stalls

Reduce fees

Promote the Market

Improve appearance

More seating

Indoor Market

Improve Parking

Unsure

Different type of Markets

Change location

Increase trading hours

Remove SHDC from market management

Additional Market days

Improve cleanliness

Nothing

Pedestrianise area

Reduce ASB

Allow traders to keep vehicles onsite

Bus to come further into town

Café and bars to provide seating

Continuity in stall appearance

Disabled access

Entertainment

Improve communication with traders

Limit Springfields expansion

Mask wearing

Modern stalls

New employees

Recycling of waste

Regular pitches

Uniform stalls

Weather

Support the traders

If you could change one single thing to improve the Market(s) 
what would it be?

Page 26



11 
 

This question also offered respondents the opportunity to submit additional supporting 

comments.  51 Respondents submitted additional comments. Overall 36 (70.58%) of 

respondents reiterated their support (26 (32%) agreed; 10 (12%) strongly agreed).  Additional 

comments also included suggestions for improved communication. 

 

The next set of questions were grouped together as a block question on the questionnaire. 

Respondents were asked to decide on a strongly agree to strongly disagree scale.   

97 respondents.  51 respondents offered further opinion. 46 respondents offered further 

comment. Support was for promotion of the market 10% and a lack of appetite to introduce 

Key Performance Indicators’ -10%.   

Q. Do you see the benefits of being involved in workshops and focus groups? 

Average of responses   = NEITHER AGREE / NOR DISAGREE – see chart below 

Q. The Council should develop key performance targets for the markets to be reported 

against annually. 

Average of responses   = NEITHER AGREE / NOR DISAGREE – see chart below 

Q. The Council should introduce online services for market traders? 

Average of responses   = NEITHER AGREE / NOR DISAGREE – see chart below 

Q. The Council should promote the markets and their traders 

Average of responses   = AGREE – see chart below 

26

10

3

3

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

0 5 10 15 20 25 30

Agree

Strongly agree

Improve communication

Unsure

Do not engage

Market should be operated properly

Needs new approach

They do not do this enough

Should be trader led

Traders need incentives to attend

Up to Traders

Works well as it is

No need to engage

The Council should engage regularly with traders 
through their appointed market representatives -

additional comments.

Page 27



12 
 

 

Q. What facilities would you like to see introduced to the markets, subject to funding? (select 

all which apply) 

The questionnaire asked respondents to comment on new initiatives proposed in the 

questionnaire.   

An overall proportion of respondents 169 (88.02%) would like to see pop-up stalls introduced 

and 112 (58%) would like to see more market seating areas. 87 (45.31%)would like to see 

traders offer contactless card payments; 3% wish the markets to be cash only.   

 

10

9

5

4

3

3

3

2

2

2

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

0 2 4 6 8 10 12

Agree to promote the market

KPIs - Impossible / Not needed

Only if this is what the traders want

Online services - not needed

Agree to promote the market - funded by traders

bureaucratic

Unsure

Leave traders alone

Online services - Agree

SHDC should have KPI on increasing stalls

Encourage entrepreneurship

Help local business

Improve town appearance

Increase footfall

Increase variety

KPIs - Need to be achievable

Lack of understanding

Market traders have enough support

Markets bring footfall to the town

SH not supporting the market

SH should be proud of the market

Traders should be responsible for their own stalls

Proposal for SHDC to Introduce; KPIS, Online services, and 
promote the market. Additional Comments.

87

22 28 32

112

169

42

Contactless
card

payments

Drop and
collect
service

Click and
collect
service

Secure
shopping
storage

Market
seating
areas

Pop-up
stalls for

prospective
new traders
and micro-
businesses

Other
(please
specify)

0
20
40
60
80

100
120
140
160
180

What facilities would you like to see introduced to the 
markets, subject to funding? (select all which apply)

Page 28



13 
 

Respondents were given the opportunity to expand further with an open question for further 

comments about the options available, subject to sufficient funding.  51 people responded 

the majority of responses calling for more support for the markets from the “Council” (SHDC) 

and for more stalls and also an increase in variety. 

 

Q. Do you think it is important market traders sign up to and display quality rating such as 

Food Standards Hygiene ratings? 

192 Respondents. The majority of respondents 140 (72.92%) agree it is important to them 

that market traders sign up to, receive and display a Food Standards Hygiene Certificate. 

 

6

5

3

3

3

3

3

3

2

2

2

2

2

2

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7

Unsure

SH need to support the market

Increase variety

Long Sutton rent increase unfair

Market Traders to decide

Markets should be cash only

More Stalls / Traders

Digital for Markets is not needed

Benchmark against other Markets

Change layout

Improve Cleanliness of the Market area

SH to promote the market

Improved Market Seating Areas

Like to see Pop-Ups

Do not increase costs

Encourage Traders to be consistent

Extend Long Sutton Road Closure beyond…

Improve communication

Long Sutton Market is welcoming

Long Sutton Market layout has improved the…

Reduce ASB

Remove parking in the Market Place

Same pitch for Regular Market Traders

Support Traders to set up and tidy up

What facilities would you like to see introduced to the 
markets, subject to funding? 

140

25 27

Yes No Don't know

0

50

100

150

Do you think it is important market traders sign up to and 
display quality rating such as Food Standards Hygiene 

ratings?

Page 29



14 
 

Q. We would welcome any feedback regarding customer care, please provide your views 

Respondents were asked an open questions and given the opportunity to provide their views 

on any aspect of customer care. 91 Responses; 46 respondents offered “no opinion”.  45 

respondents provided feedback.  Overall respondents found traders to be helpful and friendly. 

 

 The following questions were open questions and relate specifically to proposals in the draft 

Market Regulations Handbook. 

Proposal: The draft handbook proposes, where appropriate, market traders achieve a 

minimum of 3 star rating Food Standards Hygiene rating and display such rating. Reference: 

Page 9.  Reason: To help consumers choose where to eat out or shop for food giving clear 

information about the businesses hygiene standards.  

This question was asked in addition to the question above and relates directly to the inclusion 

of the food rating requirement into the Market Regulations Handbook. 

192 responses.  Overall the vast majority of respondents 93 (48%) agree a food standard rating 

of at least 3 stars would help to inform customers when purchasing prepared food for sale.  

62 (32%) had no opinion and 11 (6%) disagree.  

9

8

4

3

3

2

2

2

2

2

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

0 2 4 6 8 10

Traders are helpful and friendly

Unsure

Bureaucratic

Improve apperance

Traders to be more transparant

Encourage good Customer Care

Excellent Customer Care

Long Sutton rent increase is not good…

Pedestrianise on Market days

SH to promote Market

Clean public toilets should be provided

Do not increase fees

Increase / Improve Toilet facilites

Increase Variety

Long Sutton road closure a success

Markets Inspector should be visible

SH to make market place safer

Support good customer relations

Traders all work well together

Traders operate to a high standard

Traders to show where goods are sourced

Feedback regarding customer care

Page 30



15 
 

 

Q. 27 Proposal: The draft handbook proposes that all traders provide and set-up their own 

“fit for purpose” stall.  Reference: Page 9.  Reason: To ensure that the market provisions are 

equitable throughout the district and provide welcoming and safe environments for traders 

and market visitors.  

192 respondents.  55 (29%) had no response or opinion, a further 20 (10%) of respondents 

“unsure”.    45 (23%) of respondents agree.  31 (16%) disagree.  41 respondents offered further 

opinion;  

 

93
62

11
8
8

6
6
5

2
2
2
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1

Agree

Disagree

Up to Consumers

Would Like a Higher Rating

Depends on Type of Food

Should not be too costly

For new traders only

SHDC Should Signpost

Must be Simple

Should have greater monitoring

Up to Traders

0 20 40 60 80 100

Market traders to achieve a minimum of 3 star rating for 
Food Standards Hygiene

5

4
4

3
2

2
2

2
2

1
1

1
1

1
1
1
1

1
1
1
1

1
1

0 1 2 3 4 5 6

Long Sutton bring their own now
May prevent stall holders

Most already do this

Would like to see stall available for hire

Difficult for those with disabilities
Concerns of what is 'Fit for Purpose'

Bureaucratic

Consideration on a trader basis

Traders should have option
Provide stalls to new traders / charities

Could prevent new traders

Like to see Pop Ups

Market was more vibrant when stalls were…
Need to check if fit for purpose

Not providing stalls means some traders…

Provide stalls to those without them

Provided stalls give more uniformity
Public will choose if stall is fit for purpose

Should be applied to all markets

Simple stalls may be suitable

Smaller Markets should bring own
Undecided

Would like to see stall available for hire

Fit for purpose stall

Page 31



16 
 

Proposal: The draft handbook proposes to amend the core trading hours for standing on the 

market from 09:00hrs – 15:30hrs to 09:00hrs to 14:00hrs.  Reference: Page 9.  Reason: To 

better align the traders to the footfall of the area in which they trade.  

This question was asked following feedback from traders that declining footfall means that 

standing until 3.30pm is not often worthwhile. 192 responses.  The highest proportion of 

respondents 65 (34%) disagreed with the change to hours and 56 (29%) had no opinion.  33 

(17%) agreed. 25 (13%) said it should be up to the traders to decide. 

 

Proposal: The draft handbook proposes to introduce a book and pay online platform for 

traders. Reference: Page 6. Reason: To meet the ambitions of the Council’s digital 

transformation project.   

192 responses.  78 (41%) of respondents had no opinion / no response.  16 (8%) were unsure.  

Of those respondents that gave an opinion 62 (32%) agreed with the proposal. 23 (12%) 

disagreed and 18 (9%) thought alternatives options should be available. 

 

65

56

33

19

11

3

3

1

1

0 10 20 30 40 50 60 70

Disagree

No Response / Opinion

Agree

Up to Traders

Unsure

Longer the better

Traders do not abide by core hours

Bureaucratic

Should be flexible

Core Trading Hours

78

62

23

18

16

7

0 10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80 90

No Response / Opinion

Agree

Disagree

Alternate options should be available

unsure

Up to Traders

Proposal to introduce an on-line book and pay platform

Page 32



17 
 

Q.  Do you have any ideas you would like to share on how the markets can improve in respect 

of environmentally friendly initiatives?   

192 responses. 103 (54%) gave no opinion.  25 (13%) were unsure; 11 (6) said current 

initiatives are fine and 11 (6%) would like to see a reduction in plastic bag use.  

 

Respondents were asked a set of closed questions relating to the marketing.  Analysis of the 

results indicate respondents agree to introduction of the draft Market Regulations Handbook; 

agree to SHDC promoting the markets; to the introduction of a licence and for the offering of 

pop up stalls. 

Respondents neither agreed not disagreed with the suggestion for a “Buy with Confidence” 

initiative to prevent the sale of any counterfeit goods. 

Q.  How important do you think it is the Council promotes the market by participating in 

nationally recognised activities, such as Love Your Market? 

Average of responses   – AGREE.   

Q.  To what extent do you agree or disagree with the Council’s idea to introduce a district 

wide market licence for all traders registered and vetted by SHDC? 

Average of responses – AGREE.   

Q.  To what extent do you agree or disagree with the Council’s suggestions to offer pop-up 

stalls to encourage entrepreneurship in our district. 

Average of responses – AGREE.   

Q.  To what extent do you agree or disagree with the Council developing a fair and 

transparent handbook allowing for reasonable competition and new business? 

Average of responses – AGREE.   

Q.  To what extent do you agree or disagree with the markets team should monitor service 

delivery to ensure high customer service. 

Average of responses – AGREE.  

103

25

11

11

9

8

6

4

4

3

3

0 20 40 60 80 100 120

No Response / Opinion

Unsure

Current behaviours are fine

Reduce plastic bag use

Road closures

More bins

Improved cleansing by the Council

More Stalls offering environmentally…

Recycle Traders waste

Remove Rubbish

remove Trader vehicles

Environmentally friendly initiatives

Page 33



18 
 

Q.  Market traders should not need to display food hygiene rating on their stall. 

Average of responses – DISAGREE.   

Q.  To what extent do you agree or disagree with Market traders should have hand sanitising 

facilities. 

Average of responses – AGREE.   

Q.  To what extent do you agree or disagree with Market traders do not need to display a 

‘Buy with Confidence’ card (or similar) on their stall, to demonstrate their goods are 

genuine? 

Average of responses – NEITHER AGREE NOR DISAGREE 

7. INDIVIDUAL MARKET RESPONSES 
This section deals with simplified findings of reasons for visiting each market.  Overall 

respondents visit Spalding Tuesday and Saturday the most, followed by Long Sutton, Holbeach 

and Crowland. The overall majority of respondents to each market visit for outdoor shopping. 

 

 

Crowland 

  

17%

23%

35%

63%

62%

Which market do you attend?

Crowland Holbeach Long Sutton Spalding (Tues) Spalding (Sat)

24

10
7 8

3

Shopping in
the outdoor

market

Other
shopping

For work or
study

Socialising As a
thoroughfare

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

Crowland

Page 34



19 
 

Holbeach 

 

 Long Sutton 

  

 Spalding (Tuesday) 

 

 Spalding (Saturday) 

 

  

32

22

5 5
2

Shopping in the
outdoor market

Other shopping For work or
study

Socialising As a
thoroughfare

0

10

20

30

40

Holbeach

63

34

6

30

6

Shopping in
the outdoor

market

Other
shopping

For work or
study

Socialising As a
thoroughfare

0
20
40
60
80

Long Sutton

98

65

11
33

15

Shopping in
the outdoor

market

Other
shopping

For work or
study

Socialising As a
thoroughfare

0
20
40
60
80

100
120

Spalding (Tuesdays)

95

74

6

34
17

Shopping in
the outdoor

market

Other
shopping

For work or
study

Socialising As a
thoroughfare

0

20

40

60

80

100

Spalding (Saturdays)

Page 35



20 
 

8. EMAIL AND LETTER RESPONSES 
15 Individual responses have been received.  The consultation responses are detailed in the 

table below.   The second column of the table includes a response that acknowledges and 

addresses each concern raised. 

Representation Comment 

Reference to fees and charges: 
 
Concerned with new charges potentially being implemented 
and may not be able to continue to trade at many of the 
markets.    
 
according to the new document the stalls will be only 10ft 
deep. All of my stalls are at least twice that at the moment.  
as a quick estimate if I was to pay per square foot for the 
space I currently have I will be expecting a ren increase on pre 
covid by about 10k.  
 
Concern it will not be possible make it financially viable to 
continue to trade with South holland. 
  
I need time to get other markets in place as I'm set to lose 5 
markets  
 
I'd like to be assured that stallholder fees aren't to increase 
exorbitantly, as this could jeopardise and already fragile 
market. 
 
Why raise market rent in long Sutton? 
 
Seems SHDC trying to kill the market & close it down. Stall 
holders had no market to sell goods for months during 
lockdown now there back on their feet they are met with 
huge increase. 
 
We value the Friday market in Long Sutton and are strongly 
in favour of the market continuing under the present 
conditions and costing. 
 
I consider such a weekly increase of rents will severely 
damage the nature of this important Market on a Friday in 
Long Sutton.  Long Sutton has had a significant weekly Friday 
market since their charter in 1202.  From the early days the 
market has been a significant weekly event in the town 
around the church of St Marys.  It has significantly affected 
the lay out of the town in Medieval times and also during the 
Georgian period.  It is very much a focus and feature at the 
heart of the town. 
 
I understand that additional clauses of the SHDC Market Hand 
book are being considered for inclusion in this draft.  One of 

All issues are dealt with in  
The Market Consultation 
Outcome report – at 3.2 & 
3.3 

Page 36



21 
 

the effects would be to increase the stall holders stall rents 
by 69% to meet road closure costs. 
Proposed Current Percentage  
Crowland £7.00 £5.10 37% 
Long Sutton £8.50 £5.10 67% 
Holbeach £7.00 £5.10 37% 
Spalding Sat £7.00 £19.00 -63% 
Spalding Tue £7.00 £19.00 -63% 
 
With specific reference to Long Sutton, this proposed new 
charge is quite preposterous and unacceptable. Spalding 
stalls reduced from £19.00 to £7.00, a reduction of 63%. 
Crowland and Holbeach stalls increased from £5.10 to £7.00, 
an increase of 37%. Long Sutton stalls increased from £5.10 
to £8.50, an increase of 67%. Why? If the reason for this 
differential is to contribute to the cost of closing the Market 
Place to traffic on Friday’s I would remind the Council of the 
section in their consultation document which refers to safety 
and environmental issues, both of which benefit significantly 
from the pedestrianisation of Long Sutton Market Place on 
Friday Market days. Surely South Holland District Council are 
not neglecting their duty of care and passing the financial 
aspect on to the Traders bearing in mind it was the health and 
safety aspect of pedestrians which prompted SHDC to restrict 
vehicular access in the first place. Yet another deterrent to 
Traders. 
 
It has been brought to my attention that there is a likelihood 
that fees and red tape may increase in respect of the running 
of Long Sutton Market which is held each Friday. 
 

Reference to stalls: 
 
Just will not happen. "Fit for Purpose" is best judged by the 
market's overall popularity and attendance. If it was not "Fit 
for Purpose" shoppers would not attend and as a 
consequence neither would the Traders. 
I'm sorry I don't understand all stuff printed about our non-
existent market.  Why did you stop putting up the stalls for 
traders to use they pay rent for them surely. Having a 
consultation after most traders have left and gone to 
Stamford is another waste of money.  I wonder how many 
members of the consultation team actually live here.  Please 
clean up the town and revitalise the market because it's 
advertised by property developers as a bustling market town 
and sounds wonderful but is pretty grim, such a shame and a 
let down for residents already here.   
 
We are unanimous in our belief that the withdrawal of council 
provided stalls to traders last year was a retrograde step that 
caused the market immense harm. We are of the opinion that 

All issues are dealt with in  
The Market Consultation 
Outcome report – at 3.11 

Page 37



22 
 

the provision of stalls with weather coverings would help 
encourage some traders to return to the market, and 
encourage new ones. We also feel that they would smarten 
up the appearance of the market.  
 

Reference to Long Sutton:  
 
I have lived in the town for the past 20yrs and feel the market 
is a massive boon to the town's already vibrant shops. It's 
must be a huge challenge to keep such a vast variety of shops 
and stalls in a small town so everything should be done to 
encourage this. 
 
I would like to be able to see and use the market for many 
years to come. Everything in your power should be done to 
facilitate this.  
 
 
The short short-sightedness of this proposal is horrendous. 
Spalding market has been decimated and now attention has 
been turned to other towns and villages. 
 
Long Sutton market is the heart of this wonderful little town. 
People from the surrounding rural villages congregate here 
each week to shop and meet up with friends. The local shops 
benefit and it is centre of the week for many elderly who may 
not find it easy to get to other places. Given encouragement 
I am sure that more traders will join. 
 
What happened to the slogan "SHOP LOCAL" 
 
Following the pandemic I was under the impression that 
everything was to be done to help businesses to get back on 
their feet and substantial funds have been made available for 
this purpose. Destroying our market goes completely against 
this aim. 
 
Whilst holidaying recently I was struck by the vibrancy of 
various markets which are obviously encouraging traders into 
the different places in order to help revive our struggling High 
Streets. 
 
The person who thought this one up is completely out of 
touch and should just try coming to Long Sutton on a Friday 
morning and talking to the people there. 
 
I do not wish Long Sutton to become a hollow dormitory town 
like so many others. 
 
Sutton Bridge Parish Council highly values the Long Sutton 
market, which is regarded as a very important local area 

This does not relate 
directly to the proposals 

Page 38



23 
 

amenity. It very much supports the market’s long term 
continuation, and would view with deep concern the 
implementation of any excessive increase in charges to 
market traders, which might affect the market’s viability. 
 
 

Reference road closures: 
 
In relation to road closures, I know the District Council have 
been keen to close the road to motor traffic long before 
Covid, was there any near miss or accidents relating to traffic 
to warrant the closure or was it seen as a 'be on the safe side' 
measure? 
 
Do the stallholders see an improvement since closing the 
road? 
 
Since the 2016 handbook much has been made of the Health 
and Safety aspect of the Market even though there has never 
been an accident in the Open Market with vehicles going 
between the stalls. Nevertheless the Market has now 
adopted a pedestrian zones for the Market which works well 
creating a friendly safe environment. In the opinion of the 
stall holder it is the best market in south Lincolnshire 
attracting over 1200 people each week from a wide local area 
of several counties. It also enhances the Social, Leisure and 
Economic status in the local area. This was apparent from our 
questionnaires during our local community neighbourhood 
plans from a few years ago. Our District Councillors have 
worked hard to achieve this.  
 
The town of Long Sutton has successfully followed and put 
into practice the best procedures, so the community asks 
why penalise rather than reward their achievements for this 
important Market.  
 
This important Friday Market in Long Sutton should remain in 
its present position with no increase in rents to discourage 
stall holders from serving the local community. 
 
The closure of the Market Place in Long Sutton to vehicles for 
the duration of the Friday Market is, in my opinion, an 
absolute positive both from the safety aspect of pedestrians 
and stall holders alike and the removal of vehicle emissions 
from the immediate vicinity of the general public. Pedestrian 
space and access is much improved, particularly for the ever 
growing number of mobility scooters.  
 
 

Issues are dealt with in  
The Market Consultation 
Outcome report – at 3.12 
& 3.13 

Reference to request for further suggestions: 
 

Issues are dealt with in  

Page 39



24 
 

Would it be possible to explore the possibility of a monthly 
farmers market held on Saturdays to such as those in 
Sleaford? 
 
Have a simple registration/booking system for traders, and 
don’t charge pitch fees.  
 
We should be trying to attract the maximum amount of 
traders to the market – which will in turn attract buyers to an 
expanded market.  
 
Make the car parks cheap or free only on market days by the 
same reasoning.  
 
Cheap car parking should be offset by increased volume. 
 
The traders should be encouraged as much as possible, after 
all they are providing a service – and in exchange the council 
is scalping them. 
 
More stalls = more visitors = more choice for residents = 
increased spin off revenue for cafes etc. 
Strangle the traders, strangle the town centre. 
Please apply some sensible logic to the situation 
I would like to see more food stalls such as hog roast, local 
foods e.g. meats, hot Chinese dishes, continental foods 
including Polish, Lithuanian as well as French, German. 
What happened to the wet fish wagon? 
 
We would like to see three dimensional planting in the town 
centre. We feel that as the flower industry is a key sector in 
the area, floral displays should be used as a way of promoting 
this important industry. 
 
We would like to propose that a regular auction be held in the 
town centre. Possibly Market Place or Sheep market if the 
market itself was relocated (see below) 
 
As most of the café’s in the town centre are in Hall Place we 
feel that outdoor seating should be encouraged on market 
days. This could create a café culture and thereby encourage 
a different demographical mix into the town centre.  
 
The market benefits the residents and businesses of Long 
Sutton.  
 
Further, given the influx of holiday makers, it could ensure 
that the historic Georgian Town and its environs continues to 
redevelop rather than become a faded rundown small town. 
 

The Market Consultation 
Outcome report – at 2.2 
and section 3 

Page 40



25 
 

Let's make South Holland a place to be proud to live in, work 
and visit. 
 

Reference to on-line Book and Pay for traders 
Again Counsel usurping responsibility to facilitate their 
"Digital Strategy" Not everyone is computer literate. Another 
deterrent to stall holders. 
 
You make it far too difficult to book a space. I would have 
taken a pitch at Long Sutton last Friday but could not do so 
because of bureaucracy 
 
Your log in system did not work and was unable to fill in 
details. like my address...I was told this was fixed but it 
wasn’t. I could not do it. 
 
Sensible people would have said 'come along on the Friday' 
but was told that was not possible....also the form works too 
long in advance....you were taking bookings for 30th July not 
23rd. 
 
I do not come out in the rain or if its too windy and do not 
make decisions about whether to take a pitch until 48 hours 
prior so I can see the weather forecast. 
 
If you want new traders...welcome them...bend over 
backwards..and don't make it feel like you are trying to get 
entry into Buckingham Palace.  It will be a long time before I 
attempt to take  pitch at any of your venues. 
 

This issue is dealt with in  
The Market Consultation 
Outcome report – at 1.3; 
3.7 and 3.10 
 
 

Reference to traders representatives: 
 
Traders to provide a representative to act as 
communication's officer and negotiator between the Council 
and Traders:  This is a clear usurping of responsibility by 
Council by passing this unenviable responsibility to a Trader 
and, assuming a volunteer can be found, will only serve to 
create discord among their fellow Traders. Put simply, 
Council is "Passing the book." 
 

This issue is dealt with in  
The Market Consultation 
Outcome report – at 2.2 
 

Reference to Key Performance Indicators 
 
The use of Key Performance Targets which Traders will be 
audited against annually:  I have significant experience of key 
Performance Indicators and Targets as used in commerce and 
industry. More often than not they are counterproductive to 
the overall business or project. The reason being individuals 
tend to concentrate on achieving their own individual targets 
for which they will be rewarded which is not necessarily for 
the greater good of all. Remember, this is a market in a small 
rural town with local Traders and produce not a multinational 

This issue is dealt with in  
The Market Consultation 
Outcome report – at 3.6 
 

Page 41



26 
 

corporation and will almost certainly deter Traders from 
attending if imposed. 

Reference to food hygiene ratings: 
Display Quality Ratings, a Minimum Rating of Three being 
Mandatory:  These are market stalls selling local produce not 
Sainsbury's or the Ritz.  
 

This issue is dealt with in  
The Market Consultation 
Outcome report – at 3.1 
 

Reference to waste: 
We feel that there should be a requirement for traders to 
keep the areas surrounding their stalls clear and tidy. This 
should also cover property belonging to others as we have 
seen in pre Covid days the unacceptable use of the seating in 
Hall Place as an area for storage.  We feel that this is essential 
to protect public assets in the market area.  
 

This issue is dealt with in  
The Market Consultation 
Outcome report – at 3.1 
 

Reference to Buy with Confidence: 
This is a local rural market not e-bay. 
 

This issue is dealt with in  
The Market Consultation 
Outcome report – at 3.6 

Reference to layout: 
We feel that thought should be given to looking at the layout 
of the market. At present the circle in Hall Place is underused 
for the purpose for which it is intended. We would like to see 
this area used for street entertainment and feel that the 
location of stalls that back onto this area has been to the 
detriment of this part of the town centre.  We feel that stalls 
should look onto this area, not back onto it.  
Report from respondent attached that sets out how the 
layout of the market could look. 
 

This issue is dealt with in  
The Market Consultation 
Outcome report – at 3.1 
 

Reference to customer service: 
What criteria are they [SHDC] going to use? How are they 
qualified to judge? Shoppers use of the market is the best 
judge of service delivery.  
 

This issue is dealt with in  
The Market Consultation 
Outcome report – at 3.1 
 

Reference to trader vehicles: 
We welcome the requirement for trader vehicles to be 
parked away from the town centre during trading hours. 
 

This issue is dealt with in  
The Market Consultation 
Outcome report – at 3.1 
 

OTHER 
Some proposals for inclusion in the handbook will only serve 
to have a detrimental affect on our Friday Market and will 
almost certainly deter traders from attending. You will, 
intentionally or otherwise kill off what is without doubt the 
"Jewel" in South Holland's Crown. Long Sutton market has 
been in existence for over eight-hundred years, its charter 
being granted by King John. It is part of Lincolnshire's rich 
history and should be recognised as such by Council and 
promoted. 

This issue is dealt with in  
The Market Consultation 
Outcome report – at 3.1 
 

 

 

Page 42



 

1 | P a g e  
 

 

 

South Holland District Council 

 

 

Market Regulations  

Handbook 

 

  

APPENDIX B

Page 43



 

2 | P a g e  
 

Contents 
Our Mission Statement ........................................................................................................................... 3 

Welcome to South Holland Markets ....................................................................................................... 3 

The Markets ............................................................................................................................................ 3 

What you can expect from us ................................................................................................................. 4 

Terms of Reference ................................................................................................................................. 5 

Application and Booking on the Markets ............................................................................................... 6 

First Time Stallholders............................................................................................................................. 6 

Charity Stalls ........................................................................................................................................... 6 

Market Charges ....................................................................................................................................... 7 

Cancellations and Non Attendance ........................................................................................................ 8 

Sale of Goods .......................................................................................................................................... 8 

Use of the Pitch ....................................................................................................................................... 9 

Refuse ..................................................................................................................................................... 9 

Vehicles ................................................................................................................................................. 10 

General .................................................................................................................................................. 10 

Health and Safety .................................................................................................................................. 11 

Market Representatives ........................................................................................................................ 12 

Compliance with Market Rules ............................................................................................................. 12 

Disciplinary Procedure .......................................................................................................................... 12 

Emergency Procedures ......................................................................................................................... 13 

Stallholders right to Assign their stalls goodwill ................................................................................... 13 

Contacts and Resources ........................................................................................................................ 13 

 

 

  

Page 44



 

3 | P a g e  
 

Our Mission Statement 
To ensure the district of South Holland is a vibrant place to work, live, shop and visit and that 

everyone has an opportunity to be part of its future. 

Welcome to South Holland Markets 
The following Market Regulations Handbook details the agreement that is made between South Holland District Council 

and our stallholders, setting out the obligations and requirements that must be complied with to ensure safe environments 

for all those that frequent our markets and support the markets and their growth.   

South Holland District Council is invested in the development and ongoing success of our markets. We believe that by 

working together, SHDC and stallholders can continue to grow each of our markets and aspire to increase footfall through 

a wider selection of produce and commodities.  

Our markets provide customers with fresh, local and affordable products which have become more valuable to the public 

over the recent times. It is our commitment to work with our current and new stallholders to support, develop and 

advance our markets to be the markets of choice for our residents and visitors. 

Please do not hesitate to email us at markets@sholland.gov.uk or contact the Markets Inspector on 07827 955887/ 07920 

766682  if there is something you want to bring to our attention.   

South Holland District Council currently runs 5 markets all year round in the towns of Crowland, Holbeach, Long Sutton and 

Spalding.  The Holbeach Saturday market is currently dormant, for more information about this market please contact 

markets@sholland.gov.uk. 

The Markets – 

Crowland   

North Street 

Every Friday   

09:00 – 14:00 

 

 

 

 

 

Holbeach  

Boston Road South Car Park 

Every Thursday (and Saturday)  

09:00 – 14:00 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 45

mailto:markets@sholland.gov.uk
mailto:markets@sholland.gov.uk


 

4 | P a g e  
 

Long Sutton  

Market Place 

Every Friday   

09:00 – 14:00 

 

 

 

 

 

Spalding   

Market Place, Hall Place and Sheep Market 

Every Tuesday and Saturday  

09:00 – 14:00  

 

 

 

 

The days of trading can be varied around Bank Holidays but will never be held on Christmas, Boxing or New Year’s Day. 

More details regarding our markets, including any changes around bank holidays can be found at www.sholland.gov.uk. 

 

What you can expect from us 
A Council representative will visit each market. 

The markets team will be on hand to help with any queries or issues 7.30am – 5pm Monday to Friday. 

The Council will facilitate the online application process and check that you have everything in place to be able to stand on 

our markets.   

The Council will facilitate and run the online booking system that will secure your position on the markets. 

The Council will promote the markets via SHDC website and social media channels. 

The Council will facilitate and work with the market engagement group to ensure two-way communication with our 

stallholders that supports the growth of our markets  

The Council will facilitate and encourage the nomination and positioning of Market Representatives to ensure the 

stallholders always have a voice. 

The Council will update stallholders with any relevant Government advice or legislation. 

 

  

Page 46



 

5 | P a g e  
 

 

Terms of Reference 
‘The council’ means the district Council of South Holland, whose principle office is The Council Offices, Priory Road, 

Spalding, PE11 1AX 

‘The market’ means the open-air markets held in Crowland, Holbeach, Long Sutton and Spalding respectively in the 

locations determined by the District Council. 

‘The Market Inspector’ means the person appointed by the Council to exercise general management, supervision, control 

and enforcement of market rules or any person nominated to deputise in the absence of the Market Inspector. 

‘Stall’ means any structure, standing bench, table, place or space and any vehicle or trailer used or intended to be used for 

the display or sale of goods. 

‘Pitch’ means the place or space in the marketplace where the stallholder is positioned containing the agreed stall or 

number of stalls, allocated to the individual stallholder. 

‘Fittings’ means any free-standing structure or additional attachments used for displaying goods, not normally comprising 

of the make-up of the stall.    

‘Vehicles’ include any mechanically propelled vehicle (other than mobility scooters or wheelchairs) and any cycle, tricycle, 

wheelbarrow, cart, handcart, truck, wagon or trailer. 

‘Goods’ includes provisions, commodities and articles brought into the market for the purpose of sale.  

‘Stallholder’ means a trader given permission to trade on the Market, whether Registered or Casual. Active stallholders 

must inform the Council of any changes to their names or contact information. 

‘Registered Trader’ means a stallholder who has been allocated a reserved pitch for each market day and has agreed to 

comply in full with the Councils Regulations relating to the payment of rents and the operation of the market. 

‘Casual Trader’ means a stallholder who is allowed to stand for the day of market only and has agreed to comply in full 

with the Councils Regulations relating to the payment of rents and the operation of the market.  They have the right on 

application to be placed on the waiting list to become a registered trader.   They will not be placed within 48ft from a 

stallholder who sells the same commodity, nor will they be put in a space held by an absent registered stallholder who sells 

the same commodity. 

‘Market Representative’ means a stallholder voted into the position of representative by their peers.  They are the main 

point of communication between the stallholders on their appointed market and the Council. 

“Loading and unloading” means the process of getting goods and equipment in and out of the stallholders’ vehicles and 

setting up or taking down the stall or pitch 

“Market Licence” means the authority of the Council, which is personal to the Stallholder, to sell permitted items on a 

specified market from a pitch, subject to Market Rules and such other conditions as may be included in the Market Licence 

“Permitted Commodities” means those goods and commodities for which the Stallholder has the approval of the Markets 

Inspector to sell during the course of trading hours. 

 

 

  

Page 47



 

6 | P a g e  
 

Application and Booking on the Markets 
All stallholders are required to complete an online application which is assessed by the Markets Inspector.    

The application will require you to provide: 

• details of all commodities that you will be selling. 

• proof of public liability insurance for claims up to £5 million. 

• proof of registration with the food safety team, confirmation that you hold a food rating of 3 stars or above and 

food hygiene certificates if you are selling food. 

• business details, including any market federation membership number.  

• full contact details.  

• Details of the markets you wish to trade on. 
 

Once all the required information is received, and providing the application is successful, the applicant will receive a licence 

to trade which will need to be displayed on their stall at all times. The licence permits the stallholder to trade on agreed 

markets only and sell only the permitted commodities as provided in the application process. Should these need to be 

amended you must contact the Markets team. Should you fail to do so you will be requested to cease trading the 

unauthorised commodities immediately and may be subject to disciplinary procedures.  

To stand on a market day, stallholders are required to book a pitch through the online book and pay system, for which 

payment is required at the time of booking.  If any stallholder stands without booking and paying in advance through this 

system, they will be requested to cease trading on that day and may be subject to disciplinary procedures.  

Registered traders will be required to use the book and pay system and will have to book 7 days in advance for any market.  

If no booking is made the stallholder will be contacted by the Markets Team.  If there is no response or the pitch is not 

required on that day it will be made available for a casual trader for that day only. 

Stallholders will receive an email receipt for book and pay. 

If, due to a registered trader not booking to stand, a reserved pitch becomes available it will be let by the Markets 

Inspector to a stallholder who has filled in their application and is on the waiting list.  The market inspector will be 

responsible for maintaining commodity balance within the markets and may refuse an application due to replication of a 

commodity within the market.   

In the event that an allocated pitch becomes unsuitable to the stallholder it is allocated to, the Market Inspector shall, at 

their discretion, allocate an alternative position if there any available. 

First Time Stallholders 

To support new stallholders, we intend to be able to provide an option for new stallholders to hire a 3m x 3m gazebo and 
table for a maximum of 6 weeks at an additional cost and subject to availability. 
For more details please contact the Markets team at market@sholland.gov.uk. 

Charity Stalls  
On all of South Holland District Councils markets there is one allocated Charity pitch which is available free of charge.  
Registered Charities must complete an online application form and will be able to book once per month on each market 
through the book and pay system.  If additional bookings are required in a month, the Charity can become a Casual Trader 
and will be subject to the fees for the pitch size required.  A charity can hire a 3mx3m gazebo and table for a maximum of 6 
weeks at an additional cost and subject to availability. 
For more details please contact the Markets team at market@sholland.gov.uk. 

  

Page 48

mailto:market@sholland.gov.uk
mailto:market@sholland.gov.uk


 

7 | P a g e  
 

Market Charges 
The most up to date charges for standing on our markets can be found on our website – add link 

The Council reserves the right to amend its charging policies at any time and will give a minimum notice of one month to 

each stallholder. 

All pitches have a maximum depth of 3m/10ft, the costs set out below are for a 3m x 3m pitch.  

The draft handbook sets out for consideration the proposed revised fees and charges for market trading in the district of 

South Holland.  The proposed fees and charges will enable the Council to work towards recovering its costs in managing and 

administering the markets regime across all markets in the District.   The fee proposals set out in this handbook aim to 

provide a simple fee model that aims to achieve cost recovery fairly across all traders and across all markets. To encourage 

local and new enterprise and demonstrate commitment to the growth of the district’s markets and to aspire to increase 

footfall through a wider selection of produce and commodities. 

Markets 
Proposed New 

Charges 
Current Charges 

Difference from 

Current Charges 

 

 

Crowland £7.00 £5.10 37%  

Long Sutton £8.50 £5.10 67%  

Holbeach £7.00 £5.10 37%  

Spalding Sat £7.00 £19.00 -63%  

Spalding Tue £7.00 £19.00 -63%  

 

Electric hook up will incur an additional £1 contributary cost.  

Page 49



 

8 | P a g e  
 

Cancellations and Non-Attendance 
In the case of any cancellation, payments will not be refunded.  Instead the non-trading days may be reimbursed by way of 

a free future booking, at the discretion of the Markets Inspector subject to the reason for cancellation as detailed below. 

Cancellations made by the stallholder will only be reimbursed if there is an unforeseen reason such as illness or 

bereavement.  Documentary evidence such as medical certificates may be required by the Markets Inspector to authorise 

the reimbursement.  

a) With regard to non-attendance of a stallholder due to certified sickness and bona fide visits to medical 

practitioners, a stallholder will have rents reimbursed for a period of up to 3 months.  A medical certificate or 

letter will be required from a doctor clearly stating that the registered trader is unable to attend his/her market 

stall.  If certified sickness continues for a period of six months, discussions will be held with the stallholder 

concerned and the situation will be reviewed.  The aforementioned review will be instigated by the Markets 

Inspector after consultation with the Environmental Services Manager.  The outcome will be made known to the 

stallholder. 

b) In extenuating circumstances, should any medically certified leave of absence be extended to a period of twelve 

months, the stallholder will be invited to attend a meeting when a comprehensive review of the situation will 

take place. 

c) Stallholders who suffer a close family bereavement will be allowed two weeks absence, without forfeiture of 

rights and free of market charges.  An explanatory letter or email must be given by that stallholder to the 

market’s inspector. 

d) If a stallholder is required for jury service, they must inform the markets inspector in writing as soon as possible 

and the market rents may be waived. 

The Council may cancel a market at short notice due to adverse weather conditions.  The Council will endeavour to gain a 

consensus from Stallholders before the decision is made to cancel the market and the stallholder will be reimbursed by 

way of a free booking on a future date. 

In the event the Council has received notification from statutory undertakers or other bodies that work is to be undertaken 

in the Market place, the Council reserves the right to give one weeks’ notice to terminate any bookings made within the 

period of works.   

All registered traders are required to give 4 weeks’ notice in writing when leaving any of the Councils Markets.   

A pitch left unoccupied for 3 consecutive weeks by a registered trader may be considered to be vacant unless a reason 

considered acceptable by the Markets Inspector is given.   

An aggregate of 15 absences by a registered trader in any 12-month period may result in the loss of a reserved pitch unless 

a reason considered acceptable by the Markets Inspector is given.  Documentary proof such as Medical certificates may be 

required.   

Notice of non-attendance must be given to the Markets inspector by emailing markets@sholland.gov.uk or by calling 

07827 955887/ 07920 766682.   

 

Sale of Goods 
Stallholders shall not sell any type of goods other than those for which they are registered.  This regulation may be relaxed 

if no other stallholder has applied to be on the waiting list or the Markets Inspector agrees that the sale of the additional 

goods will not interfere with the balance of the market.   

Permission to change or alter commodities must be gained from the Markets Inspector in writing by emailing 

markets@sholland.gov.uk, if the changes are significant a new application form may need to be completed.   

Sale of live animals, fish, birds and other fowl will not be permitted.   

Practices of acupuncture, ear piercing, tattooing or electrolysis will not be permitted. 

No counterfeit, replica guns/weapons, drug related, pornographic or adult entertainment goods to be displayed or sold. 

Page 50

mailto:markets@sholland.gov.uk
mailto:markets@sholland.gov.uk


 

9 | P a g e  
 

Stallholders selling food items must comply with all current and applicable food safety legislation and must be registered 

with the Local Authority in whose district they reside.  The Council will only accept food vendors on any of the markets with 

a Food Hygiene Rating of 3 stars or above and the relevant food safety rating should be displayed at all times.  Food should 

also be labelled in accordance with statutory requirements and those handling food should be appropriately trained.  For 

more information please contact South Holland District Councils Food Safety Team at foodhs@sholland.gov.uk. 

 

Use of the Pitch 
All pitches have an identification code and stallholders shall only occupy the position allocated to them.   

No alterations or additions can be made to the stall or pitch without the authorisation of the Markets Inspector.   

Subletting of stalls or pitches or any part thereof is prohibited.   

All pitches have a maximum depth of 3m/10ft, no goods shall be placed beyond the boundaries of the stall/pitch, either 

hanging or on the ground unless permission to do so has been gained from the Markets Inspector.   

All stallholders are required to be aware of and comply with the relevant statute law and regulations.    

It is the responsibility for all stallholders to acquaint themselves with the trading regulation regarding their own specialist 

area and abide by it.    

Stallholders are responsible for supplying, erecting, dismantling and upkeep of their own stalls.   

Stallholders are required to keep their stalls, fittings and space below the stalls clean and free from litter.  All fittings, 

fixtures and appliances owned by the stallholders must be kept in good condition and must not constitute a danger to the 

public.  The stallholder, in accepting these regulations, agrees to indemnify the Council against any liability for accidents, 

damage or injury caused by or arising from the disrepair condition or construction of any stall which belongs to the 

stallholder. 

Stallholders must ensure that they, or any person working for them, does nothing which, in the opinion of the Market 

Inspector is a nuisance or annoyance to a member of the public or detrimental to the efficient operation of the market. 

No stallholder or their assistants shall use amplified sound for the purpose of advertisement, entertainment, trade or 

business.   

Generators will only be allowed if in the opinion of the Market Inspector, they are not likely to be a danger, health hazard 

or nuisance to members of the public or other stallholders. 

Electrical hook up points are available at Spalding and Holbeach and these are reserved for food vendors requiring 

refrigeration or heating.  No stallholder shall use these points unless agreed with the Markets Inspector and may be 

subject to an additional charge. 

Pitches not in use are to be kept clear from obstruction and not used as storage or ad-hoc trading areas.    

South Holland District Council reserves the right, through the Market Inspector to request removal of goods from sale that 

have been identified by Trading Standards as not fit for sale. 

All stalls, goods, vehicles and refuse must be removed from the markets area no more than one and a half hours after close 

of the market but not before 14:00.  Stallholders must not leave the market site before this time unless the Markets 

Inspector expressly permits it and/or when circumstances (i.e. bad weather) necessitate the early ceasing of trade.  If 

Stallholders need to leave early, they must seek agreement from the Market Inspector.  Unauthorised early departures will 

be deemed a breach of terms and conditions and may result in disciplinary procedures. 

 

Refuse 
You must keep your allocated stall or pitch, and the immediate surrounding area, clean and tidy and clear of rubbish and 

waste.  All stallholders will ensure that any rubbish or waste is stored appropriately so that it does not spread across the 

Market or town.  It is the responsibility of each stallholder to ensure that all refuse generated by or collected upon his or 

Page 51

mailto:foodhs@sholland.gov.uk


 

10 | P a g e  
 

her pitch, is taken away with them for disposal and it is the responsibility of each stallholder to sweep their pitch clean 

after each market at the end of the trading day.    

Under no circumstances shall stallholders dispose of commercial market waste in public litter bins or drain water tanks or 

empty water containers into the public drainage system.  If a Stallholder makes arrangements for the removal and disposal 

of their waste it is their responsibility to ensure that any persons removing or disposing of the waste holds an appropriate 

waste carriers’ licence which can be inspected by the Markets Inspector.    

If a Stallholder disposes of waste in an unauthorised way, they will be reported to the Community Safety team for 

investigation and may result in disciplinary procedures.  

 

Vehicles 
Stallholder's vehicles and/or goods delivery vehicles may only be brought into the Market in such a manner as will cause no 

obstruction to any public road, pavement or footway used by the public nor inconvenience to other stallholders or the 

occupiers of any premises adjoining the Market. Vehicles may not stand for longer than is reasonably necessary for loading 

or unloading goods.  Unloading of goods must be carried out before commencement of the sale of goods to the public and 

not later than the commencement of the market at 9:00am, unless permission has been granted by the Markets inspector.  

No vehicles should be brought onto the market area or stalls removed from the market area before 14:00.  One permit will 

be issued per trader for Victoria Street or Holland Road car parks. 

Where it can be demonstrated that it is essential to a stallholder’s commercial operation that a vehicle remains on the 

market, this shall be permitted where possible, with the prior agreement of the Markets Inspector.   

Vehicles driven by market stallholders in Spalding shall access the Market place via Broad Street and shall leave via New 

Road.  Movement of stallholders vehicles are not allowed in the Market Place or Hall Place, Spalding, during the hours of 

Lincolnshire County Councils pedestrianisation (10:00-16:00) on the day of the market.  The Markets Inspector may relax 

these provisions during adverse weather conditions or emergencies.  If the Markets Inspector is not in attendance 

permission may be given by the Markets representative only.   

 

General 
A stallholder must notify the Council of any change in the operation of the stall e.g. any amendment to the business name 

and/or address and any change in contact details by emailing markets@sholland.gov.uk.  Failure to do so may result in the 

cancellation of the stallholder’s licence.  

A stallholder must notify the Council of any changes in the commodities that they sell by emailing 

markets@sholland.gov.uk.   

If a stallholder employs someone on a regular basis to manage their stall, positive proof of such employment must be 

provided (e.g. insurance card, tax documents etc.) 

Every stallholder shall furnish proof of third party public liability insurance in the minimum of £5,000,000 (five million 

pounds) when first starting on any of the markets.  The insurance must be renewed, and a copy of the renewal certificate 

produced to the market’s inspector by the stallholder each year. 

Stallholders and their assistants are requested to dress in a respectable manor as would be expected within their working 

environment as not to cause offence to customers and other stallholders. 

Stallholders and their assistants shall not do any act or anything which may cause danger, nuisance or annoyance to other 

stallholders or visitors to the market.  Stallholders and their assistants shall comply with all reasonable instructions and 

requirements of the market’s inspector. 

Stallholders and their assistants shall not harass, threaten or otherwise prevent the markets inspector from managing the 

markets or enforcing these regulations. 

The stallholders shall comply with all of the above regulations and ignorance of market regulations will not be accepted as 

a defence.  Infringement of any of the regulations may result in disciplinary procedures taking place.  

Page 52

mailto:markets@sholland.gov.uk
mailto:markets@sholland.gov.uk


 

11 | P a g e  
 

 

 

Health and Safety 
All stallholders are duty bound by law to follow the Health and Safety at Work Act 1974.  As a condition of your licence to 

occupy a pitch/stall upon the market, all stallholders are required to comply with all Health and Safety instructions as 

issued at registration of a stallholder and from time to time thereafter by the Markets Inspector.  Such instructions and 

regulations are additional to and do not vary the byelaws relating to the operation of the market.   

Failure to comply will result in suspension or permanent removal from the market.  

Because of possible risks to the public passing through the market place, it is the responsibility of all stall holders to 

ascertain and comply with Health and Safety legislation concerning the delivery, erection and dismantling of “own units” 

and the storage of their refuse, be that be done by themselves or others. 

It is the responsibility of all stallholders to undertake a Health and Safety risk assessment of such working methods and 

apply suitable safeguards. 

All Stallholders shall comply with any guidance issued by the Government for the purpose of protecting themselves and the 

public in regard to COVID 19. 

Stallholders are reminded of the requirement to effect and maintain Public Liability insurance at all times and provide 

evidence of the same to the Market Inspector upon request. 

All stallholders are expected to: 

a) Familiarise themselves with these health and safety instructions. 

b) Ensure Risk Assessments are undertaken and safe systems of work are implemented and regularly reviewed. 

c) Ensure all employees, agents and contractors are adequately informed, instructed, supervised and trained in 

health and safety matters. 

d) Take reasonable care of their health, safety and welfare and that of others who may be affected by their acts or 

omissions. 

e) Assist Market Inspectors by reporting and accident or incident that has or may cause injury to a person or 

damage to property. 

f) Co-operate and comply with all directions given by the Market Inspector regarding Health and Safety issues. 

Any accident caused through failure to observe statutory requirements or negligence is the responsibility of the licenced 

stallholder.   

All stallholders are responsible for the safe erection and dismantling of their stall, to ensure their own safety and that of 

those using and visiting the stall. 

Those erecting or dismantling stalls should always be aware of staff, members of the public and traffic in the surrounding 

area.  Although different stalls have different requirements with regard to erection and dismantling, the following must be 

adhered to for all stalls and the Council Reserves the right to ask a stall to be removed if not deemed safe/appropriate.  

a) Stalls must be stable once erected 

b) Stalls must be capable of coping with the weather conditions on the day. 

c) All welds on stalls components must be sound 

d) Stall components must not be excessively corroded 

e) Sheeting must be securely lashed to stall structure, in a way which prevents pooling of rainwater. 

f) Trained and experienced staff only should undertake stall erection or dismantling 

g) A suitable safety platform or stepladder must be used whenever working above ground level. 

h) Working areas should be maintained in a safe and tidy condition with refuse and litter removed from the area 

before dismantling commences. 

i) Stallholders must ensure equipment is maintained in a good condition. 

j) Stallholders must ensure correct and safe handling techniques are used at all times. 

k) Stallholders must always wear appropriate PPE 

l) When dismantling stalls, bars are to be removed in a controlled manner (without dropping from height or left 

unattended causing trip hazards) 

Page 53



 

12 | P a g e  
 

m) Any incidents that result in injury to a member of the public, or anyone working on a stall (including those during 

erecting and dismantling stalls) must be reported to the Market Inspector. 

 

Market Representatives 
Every year a nomination and voting process will take place in order to appoint a Market representative and vice for each 

market.  These representatives will be the main point of communication between the stallholders on their market and the 

Council.  They may be consulted on decision making processes and will be able to advise other stallholders ensuring good 

two-way communication between the council and its stallholders. 

 

Compliance with Market Rules 
Stallholders are required to comply with all reasonable directions of the Markets Inspector. 

As part of the welcome pack stallholders must sign the form to say they have read, understand and intend to comply with 

the Market Rules 

Any acts that are a breach of any of these regulations may result in disciplinary action such as a verbal, written or final 

warning.  It can also lead to suspension from market or revocation of licence from all SHDC run markets. 

The Council has the right to terminate your Licence immediately if you or your employee(s): 

• Behave in a way that the Council believes, in its sole discretion, amounts to a serious breach of standards of 

trading detailed in the Market Rules; 

• Offer or display food for sale that is unfit for human consumption or 

• Convicted of any offence under the Weights and Measures Act 1985 or any Act, Regulation or Order relating to 

the sale of foods or goods including but not limited to offence for the sale of counterfeit goods. 

If a stallholder fails to comply with the conditions of their licence or terms contained with the Market Regulations 

Handbook, the Council may take disciplinary action. The appropriate level of action will be dependent on the seriousness of 

the offence.  In the event of action being taken the stall holder may appeal against that action within the period and to the 

person(s) indicated below. 

 

Disciplinary Procedure 
Breaches of licence conditions, terms and conditions of the Market Regulations Handbook or market procedures:  
 

1. First breach – the Market Inspector shall issue a verbal warning. A record of the verbal warning will be made by 
the Council.  

 
2. Second breach (within any 12 month rolling period) – a first written warning shall be issued by the Market 

Inspector.  
 

3. Third breach (within any 12 month rolling period) – a final written warning shall be issued by the Market 
Inspector.  

 
4. Failure to comply with a written warning shall be reported to the Service Manager for Environmental Services 

who will invite representations from the stallholder and will then decide on the appropriate action which may 
include termination of the licence. Furthermore, the stallholder may be permanently excluded from trading at 
any market within the South Holland district depending on the seriousness of the breach.  

 
Please note - the Council reserves the right to suspend a stallholder from the market immediately if the breach or level 

of behaviour is likely to cause serious difficulties with the continued operation of the market, consists of threats to 

others or involves the sale of unauthorised or unsafe goods. Stallholders not complying with the Market Rules may be 

suspended from trading by the Markets Inspector 

 

Page 54



 

13 | P a g e  
 

 
Appeals Procedure: At all stages of the disciplinary procedure the stallholder has a right of appeal. The following appeal 
procedure applies:  
 

1. The stallholder must make the appeal in writing within 10 workings days of receipt of the warning. The appeal 
must be sent to the Environmental Services Manager, Council Offices, Priory Road, Spalding, Lincs, PE11 2XE.  

 

2. If the appeal is against a decision made by the Environmental Services Manager, the appeal should be addressed 
to the Place Manager, Council Offices, Priory Road, Spalding, Lincs, PE11 2XE.   

 

3. If an appeal hearing is necessary, the stallholder shall be given adequate notice of the hearing and shall have the 
right to be accompanied at any hearing by a representative of their choice.  

 

Emergency Procedures 
There may be occasions when it is necessary to evacuate the marketplace for safety reasons.  Stallholders can play a 

valuable role in helping to ensure that a calm and effective evacuation takes place by giving clear guidance on what is 

expected of the members of the public. 

Evacuations will only be instigated by the emergency services. 

There is no officially designated assembly point and large numbers of people are likely to require moving.  It is essential 

that such a movement is away from potential danger and that stallholders assist in ensuring members of the public are 

vigilant of emergency vehicles entering and exiting the marketplace. 

The principal focus of an evacuation will be to protect members of the public, who will be expected to either disperse or 

await safe access back onto the market site, depending on the nature of the emergency. 

In order to facilitate easy evacuations, stallholders must make sure that stalls do not encroach on walkways or traffic 

routes, taking account of the fact that there may be wheelchairs, pushchairs and prams etc. present. 

 

Stallholders right to Assign their stalls goodwill 
a) To be considered for the right to assign a stalls goodwill to the market stallholder wishing to sell their stalls 

goodwill must have traded for two years or more on one of South Holland District Councils market on a 

continuous basis. 

b) Both the market stallholder and the chosen purchaser (i.e. market stallholder buying the stalls goodwill) must 

make a joint application to the Council for approval before they can enter into any agreement. 

c) To ensure the market remains balanced the purchaser buying the right to sell on the transferred stall, must only 

sell those lines of goods previously sold by the market stallholder selling the stalls goodwill. 

d) The new market stallholder (purchaser of the stall) must adhere to all market regulations. 

e) No actual transfer is to take place until the application has been dealt with and approved in writing by the 

council. 

f) The council reserves the right to reject applications. 

 

Contacts and Resources 
SHDC Markets team - markets@sholland.gov.uk  

SHDC Food Safety team – foodhs@sholland.gov.uk  

The Food Standards Agency – www.food.gov.uk 

The Food Standards Agency Registration page - https://www.food.gov.uk/business-

guidance/register-a-food-business 

Page 55

mailto:markets@sholland.gov.uk
mailto:foodhs@sholland.gov.uk
http://www.food.gov.uk/
https://www.food.gov.uk/business-guidance/register-a-food-business
https://www.food.gov.uk/business-guidance/register-a-food-business


 

14 | P a g e  
 

Environmental Health Training and Consultancy - www.ehcuk.co.uk  

NABMA - www.nabma.com, info@nabma.com, 01691 680713 

National Market Traders Federation  – www.nmtf.co.uk, 01226 749021,  

 

 

 

 

Page 56

http://www.ehcuk.co.uk/
http://www.nabma.com/
mailto:info@nabma.com
http://www.nmtf.co.uk/


1 
 

APPENDIX C 
Equality Impact Assessment  

Version Date Author Name of report assessed: Comments 

0.0 24.05.2021 JS  First draft 

0.1 27.07.2021 JS  Revised 

0.2 29.09.2021 JS  Revised post consultation 

0.3 07.10.2021 JS  Revised post consultation 

 

Question Response 

1. What are the 
aims, 
objectives and 
expected 
outcomes of 
the activity? 

The purpose of the document is to determine the impact of the proposed new 
draft Market Regulations Handbook and the proposed changes to Fees and 
Charges for markets trading the district of South Holland to aid the essential 
community facility of markets for traders, residents and visitors.  
https://www.mission4markets.uk/ 
 
The primary focus of the review is to: 
 

• Ensure the service fees and charges are “Hemming” compliant; 

• Levying Fees and Charges that better reflect the cost to SHDC of 
providing the Markets operation; 

• Fairer and more consistent fees and charges across all individual 
markets; 

• Facilitate an online application process to support SHDC’s digital 
transformation programme; 

• Facilitate and run an on-line booking system to secure traders have a 
standing position on the market; 

• Build a sustainable and equitable market provision throughout the 
district for traders addressing regulation in the draft Market Regulation 
Handbook; 

• Provide an on-hand markets team to help with any queries or issues 
7.30am – 5pm Monday to Friday; an out of hours service at all other 
times. 

• Provide welcoming and safe environments for traders and market 
visitors. 

 

2. What 
involvement 
and 
consultation 
has been 
done in 
relation to 
this activity? 
(e.g. with 
relevant 
stakeholders) 

We consulted internally and externally on the draft handbook and proposed fees 
and charges.  Pre-consultation discussions took place on a face to face basis with 
all regular and casual traders and representative(s) of the National Market 
Traders Federation.  Benchmarking to measure competitive fees, best working 
practices and processes took place with neighbouring districts including North 
Norfolk, East Lindsey, Boston, South Kesteven, Fenland, Kings Lynn, West 
Norfolk, Huntingdon and West Lindsey. 
 
The draft Market Regulations Handbook and proposed fees and charges were 
publically consulted upon from 9.00am Friday 18 June 2021 to 5.00pm 30 July 
2021 for a period of 6 weeks.   
 
On completion of the consultation a review of all submissions, comments and 
feedback received was undertaken and considered and any amendments were 
made in accordance with the responses received; a formal decision to 

Page 57

https://www.mission4markets.uk/


2 
 

implement revised conditions will be required.  It is anticipated that the draft 
Market Regulations Handbook and proposed Fees and Charges will be 
considered for approval by Cabinet on 29 October 2021 and adopted 
immediately thereafter if approved. 
 
All known traders, parish and ward councillors, MP and non-statutory consultees 
including national and local bodies representing society, hard to reach groups 
and businesses received a copy of the consultation pack, including a copy of the 
draft Market Regulations Handbook, proposed fees and charges, paper 
questionnaire and signposting to SHDC website and online questionnaire. The 
consultation documents were emailed and posted where necessary on 18 June 
2021 and ongoing when requests for the same were received or consultees 
identified.   
 
The proposals were advertised on the South Holland District Council website and 
copies were held at the Council building at Priory Road, Spalding from 18 June 
2021 to 30 July 2021. 
 
Following the removal of national restrictions on 19 July 2021 relating to the 
Coronavirus pandemic, allowing for the free movement of people, consultation 
packs were distributed to 13 community centres across the district on 21 July 
2021. 
 
A programme of communications took place throughout the consultation period 
via social media; Facebook, Twitter and LinkedIn. Throughout the duration of 
the consultation the printed and online press covered the consultation in 
editions of the Spalding Voice and Spalding Today.  
 
Consultees could take part in six (6) ways: 
 

• Paper questionnaire – A paper questionnaire was emailed to all stall 
holders together with all the supporting information including the 
consultation documents and summary of proposed changes. 
 

• Online questionnaire – An online questionnaire was available from the 
South Holland District Council website via questionnaire monkey. 

 

• Further copies were also available at the engagement events or on 
request from the Markets Team either via telephone or email or via the 
environmental services staff member attending at each market. 

 

• Attendance at public engagement Sessions (see below for details) 
 

• During on-site engagement with traders and the public by Officers of the 
Environmental Service team at the opening and closing of each market. 
 

• Email reminder sent to all stall holders on 23 July 2021 reminding them 
of the dates for closure of the consultation, provided links to the online 
consultation document(s). 
 

Public Engagement Sessions 

Page 58



3 
 

 
Five on-site engagement sessions were held across the district attended by 
Officers of Environmental Services and SHDC Elected Members.  The sessions 
offered the opportunity for anyone who wished so to do to discuss the 
consultation and complete a questionnaire.   Officers completed the 
questionnaire for those people who wished to participate but did not have the 
means to complete the questionnaire themselves. 
 
The engagement sessions took place at: 

• Tuesday 6 July 2021 - Spalding 

• Thursday 8 July 2021 - Holbeach 

• Friday 09.07.2021 - Crowland 

• Friday 16 July 2021 – Long Sutton 

• Saturday 17 July 2021 - Spalding 

 
Officers and Councillors were available between 9.00am and 2.00pm on the 
days shown above.  These times coincided with the normal market operating 
hours. 
 

3. Who is 
affected by 
this activity? 

Those people that will be directly impacted by the proposals include all regular 
and casual market traders operating in the South Holland district. At the time of 
this report 246 pitches are available within the district. As of October 2020, 73 
pitches were let and assumed let for 2021 is 117. 
 
Demographic data has not historically been kept and there is currently no readily 
available accurate or reliable data sources upon which we can rely to inform and 
provide detail of personal demographics.  
 

4. What are the 
arrangements 
for monitoring 
and reviewing 
the actual 
impact of the 
activity? 

It is important to monitor the effect of the draft handbook and proposed fees 
and charges on protected groups because this will identify if the handbook and 
provision of service therein has the impact anticipated and that the mitigating 
actions identified in this report have been effective. 
 
Quarterly review meeting will take place between Officers and Trades to 
facilitate the smooth running of the markets in the South Holland District, this 
is an anticipatory action to identify ways equality is being promoted by SHDC 
and ways it could do more to promote equality.  It should also identify any 
unintended consequences or barriers that might prevent participation by some 
groups.  

5. Do the 
outcomes of 
the activity 
complement 
or hinder 
other policies, 
values or 
objectives of 
Environmental 
Services? 

This framework will assist Environmental Services to provide a positive impact 
across all protected characteristics by ensuring that South Holland District 
Council treats everyone on a fair and equal basis.   
 
 

6. What positive 
equality 

A fairer and more transparent fees and charges system and regulation by way of 
a Market Regulations Handbook.   

Page 59



4 
 

outcomes 
could there be 
overall? 

 
The proposed fees and charges are Hemming compliant and fairer because fees 
and charges have been kept low / expanding trading opportunities. 
 
The markets will have the opportunity to a play a part in boosting trade to local 
shops by attracting people to the area and encouraging residents to shop locally.   
 
Research shows those in lower income groups use the markets as an affordable 
and convenient local way of shopping 
https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK219682/ 
 
Research shows markets are sites to promote social interaction  
https://www.jrf.org.uk/sites/default/files/jrf/migrated/files/1940-markets-
social-interaction.pdf 
 
Market trading remains an affordable option for retail opportunities and start-
up businesses. South Holland District Council is committed to growing and 
supporting the markets within its district. 
 
 

Markets 
Current Charges Proposed New 

Charges 
Difference from 
Current Charges 

Crowland £5.10 £7.00 37% 

Long Sutton £5.10 £8.50 67% 

Holbeach £5.10 £7.00 37% 

Spalding Sat £19.00 £7.00 -63% 

Spalding Tue £19.00 £7.00 -63% 

 
The main purpose of having a Handbook is to set out the matters the South 
Holland District Council will take into account when considering and undertaking 
its duty to provide and manage its markets. 
 

7. What negative 
equality 
outcomes 
could there be 
overall? 

The markets team is committed to the opportunity to promote and grow its 
market occupancy rates.  The markets continue to be a cheaper alternative for 
trading and potentially growing the jobs market with a new generation of 
traders. 
 
Identifying issues which may adversely affect protected groups may be easier to 
do with existing policies and procedures however a prediction can been made 
about the impact of the new draft Market Regulations Handbook and proposed 
fees and charges. 
 
Increases in fees and charges for traders could be unaffordable for some traders 
resulting in reduced trader occupancy.   
 
However, market trading in the district is still very affordable when considering 
the alternatives of entering into the retail shop environment and benchmarking 
against other local authorities.  Fees have been kept low and free in recent 
months to encourage traders to stand on any of the markets in the district. 
 

Page 60

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK219682/
https://www.jrf.org.uk/sites/default/files/jrf/migrated/files/1940-markets-social-interaction.pdf
https://www.jrf.org.uk/sites/default/files/jrf/migrated/files/1940-markets-social-interaction.pdf


5 
 

Some disabilities, depending on their nature and severity, will have little or no 
impact on the access to and provision of this public service.  The requirement 
for traders to erect and dismantle their own stalls suggests however that those 
most likely to have issues accessing the service are individuals with a visual 
impairment and any range of physical impairments that make it difficult for them 
put up their own stalls. 
 
Various forms of learning or physical disability could impact on the ability to 
understand guidance and / or use computers, keyboards or any of the digital 
offering to access the online book and pay system.  Around 15% of the overall 
population have dyslexia / dyspraxia or other specific learning difficulties.  
https://www.bdadyslexia.org.uk/ 

 
 

 

Protected 
Characteristic 
Group 

Please explain and give example of any evidence/data used 

 
The Markets service is unable to give reliable information regarding trader Nationality, Ethnicity, 

Disability or sexual orientation as it is not provided by traders when applying to stand on the 
market(s). 

 
As a public sector body South Holland District Council has a legal duty to eliminate unlawful 
discrimination, advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected 
characteristic and those who do not and foster good relations between people who share a 
protected characteristic and those who do not.  While we shall ensure compliance with the public 
sector duty under the Equality Act 2010 we cannot anticipate all situations and we cannot be 
responsible to the provision or adaptation of equipment that may be supplied by SHDC.  
 

Disability  The Equality Act 2010 recognises that bringing about equality for disabled 
people may mean changing the way in which services are delivered, providing 
extra equipment and / or removal of physical barriers.  The duty to make 
reasonable adjustments aims to make sure that a disabled person can use a 
service as close as it is reasonable practicable to do so to the standard usually 
offered to non-disabled people.  When the duty arises SHDC is under a 
positive and proactive duty to take steps to remove or prevent these 
obstacles.   
 
The Equality Act 2010 provides that a person has a disability if he / she has a 
physical or mental impairment and the impairment has a substantial and long 
term adverse effect on their ability to carry out normal day to day activities. 
 
Possible negative impact on individuals who are unable erect their own stalls. 
Possible negative impact for individuals who are unable to use online services.   
 
It is difficult to obtain definitive figures as estimates vary, the average is 
between 15% - 20% of the UK population are disabled.  Of South Holland’s 
total population 88270, 79.38% (70073) are not limited by disability in their 
day to day activities.  9.4% (8376) are limited a lot and 11.13% (9821) are 

Page 61

https://www.bdadyslexia.org.uk/


6 
 

limited a little, below the national average  
https://www.ons.gov.uk/census/2011census/2011censusdata 
 
Stall Erection and Online services – Book and Pay.   
The service provided should be capable of being adjusted to ensure maximum 
accessibility.   
 
Based on the evidence received through the consultation 81.29% of 
respondents did not consider themselves as having a long term illness or 
impairment.   
 
We consider from these results those persons who identify themselves to have 
a physical or mental impairment that would impair their ability to put up their 
own stall to be low. 
 
SHDC will offer reasonable adjustment and assistance to those person who 
identify as requiring assistance by way of physical support for stall erection and 
by way of offering an assisted digital support option. 
 
Organisations and charities provide specialist advice and support to disabled 
users and SHDC can signpost to these in addition to providing accessibility to 
the service. 
 

Gender 
reassignment 

No impact relating to gender reassignment has been identified.  

Marriage or civil 
partnership 

No impact relating to marriage or civil partnership has been identified.  

Pregnancy and 
maternity  

No impact relating to pregnancy and maternity has been identified. 

Race No impact relating to race has been identified. 

Religion or belief No impact relating to religion or belief has been identified. 

Sexual 
orientation  

No impact relating to sexual orientation has been identified. 

Sex (gender) No impact relating to gender has been identified. 

Age The average (median) age in South Holland is 45 year old. 2011 census.   
16.6% of South Holland’s population is under 16 years old.   
60.5% of South Holland’s population fall within the working age bracket (16-
64) and  
22.9% of South Holland’s population is 65 or over. 2011 census.   
 
Markets are accessed by people of a wide range of ages and traditionally used 
by the older generation who may benefit from a centrally located market.  They 
provide a safe outdoor area for shopping and add a social benefit within the 
community, particularly so in rural areas.  The highest proportion of 
respondents were ages between 65-74yrs: 

Page 62

https://www.ons.gov.uk/census/2011census/2011censusdata
https://www.ons.gov.uk/census/2011census/2011censusdata


7 
 

 
 
The Markets service is unable to give reliable information regarding trader 
age as it is not provided by traders when applying to stand on the market(s). 
 
 
 

 

Evaluation  

Question  Evaluation/Justification  

Is it possible the proposed 
activity could discriminate or 
unfairly disadvantage people  

Due regard to the public sector equality duty must be had and 
considered in relation to online access, stall erection and pop up 
stall provision and erection as it is may disadvantage disabled 
users or those with long term health conditions. 

Final Decision: Tick the relevant box Include any explanation / Justification  

1. No barriers 
identified; therefore 
the activity will 
proceed. 

  

2. You can decide to 
stop the activity 
practice at some 
point because the 
data shows bias 
towards one or 
more groups 

  

3. You can adapt or 
change the activity 
in a way which you 
think will eliminate 
the bias 

X Continue with the policy (functions, 
activities and decisions) and introduce 
initial screening to improve access to 
the service and identify those persons 
who require additional support to 
promote equality in line with the duty 
to have due regard.   
 
Reasonable steps to anticipate and 
accommodate the needs of disabled 
individuals where the self-serve model 
does not meet the requirements of 

Page 63



8 
 

the EqA 2010 by offering a digital 
assist service. 
 
Offer a proactive customer service 
offering support for service users by 
way of a call back, digital assist to 
those individuals who have a 
neurodivergent disability to offer help 
to process the information and 
complete the booking system. 
 
Pop –up Stalls - providing personal 
assistance for persons identifying 
themselves as needing assistance via 
the booking platform.  Ensuring due 
regard to that duty in consideration of 
pop up stall provision and erection so 
as meet the needs of service users and 
reduce inequality. 
 
Offer third parties (PSPS) access to the 
book and pay system to act as a first 
line customer support. 
 
Signposting to external support 
services such as access to work and 
NHS services. 
 
https://www.nhs.uk/conditions/social-
care-and-support-guide/money-work-
and-benefits/work-and-disability/ 
 
https://www.gov.uk/access-to-work 
 

4. Barriers and impact 
identified, however 
having considered 
all available options 
carefully, there 
appear to be no 
other proportionate 
ways to achieve the 
aim of the activity. 
Therefore you are 
going to proceed 
with caution with 
this activity knowing 
that it may favour 
some people less 
than others, 
providing 

X The proportion of society affected is 
considered to be low and safeguards 
are to be put in place to adjust 
procedure to support individuals in 
accessing the service. 
 
Quarterly review meetings will take 
place with traders and their trade 
representative bodies to ensure 
continued review and compliance with 
the public sector equality duty. 

Page 64

https://www.nhs.uk/conditions/social-care-and-support-guide/money-work-and-benefits/work-and-disability/
https://www.nhs.uk/conditions/social-care-and-support-guide/money-work-and-benefits/work-and-disability/
https://www.nhs.uk/conditions/social-care-and-support-guide/money-work-and-benefits/work-and-disability/
https://www.gov.uk/access-to-work


9 
 

justification for this 
decision. 

 

Will this EIA be published  Yes with report 

Date completed  

Review date  

 

Page 65



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Call-In (Market Consultation Outcome)
	Appendix (Cabinet covering report)
	Appendix A
	Appendix B
	Appendix C


